

## **USER GUIDE**



### WEB-BASED SYSTEM CONTROL APPLICATION

NOR	KSPACE	Demo Buboyo	dem.	• sue	SYSTEM.	Denu Suboya	tem	VIRTUAL	сомтяры	ER-POK		
		Destnation		Video		Audio Left		Audio Right			Dources	
	A0.*		<b>T</b>	Plate and	T		27	-	T.	AP.4		
x.		Mindor		Bars & Tone		Bars & Yan	4	Bars & Tone		101	Bars & Tone	
		TV:		Barn & Time		Bars & Tori		Dars & Time		0.	Audio	
		Speakers		Tapo		7000		Tape		10	TanoMid	
ŝ.		Projector		Camera		Camera		Camera		0	Webcam	
1		Headphones		Eameta		Carrieta		Carrena		1.27	cp	
£.		Cemputer								12	040	
		CD.								0	Bone	
i.		DVD								Dec.	Computer	
2		Biston										
		Tate										
		RENTI										- 16 C
		RENT2										De .
											Manual Toko: *	
										15 1	Jeala	
										Q: H6	e Levels	



### Thank You for Choosing PESA!!

We appreciate your confidence in our products. PESA produces quality, state-of-the-art A/V processing, routing and distribution equipment designed to deliver our users the highest degree of performance, dependability and versatility available anywhere. If you ever have a question or concern with a PESA product, we have a team of engineers, technicians and customer service professionals available 24/7 every day of the year to help resolve the issue.

Again thank you for choosing PESA, and we look forward to a long-term partnership with you and your facility.

<u>SERVICE AND ORDERING</u> <u>ASSISTANCE</u> PESA 103 Quality Circle, Suite 210 Huntsville AL 35806 USA www.PESA.com

MAIN OFFICE Tel: 256.726.9200 Fax: 256.726.9271 <u>CUSTOMER SERVICE DEPARTMENT</u> Tel: 256.726.9222 (24/7) Toll Free: 800.323.7372 Fax: 256.726.9268 Email: service@PESA.com

© 2020, 2018, 2014, 2013, 2012 PESA, All Rights Reserved.

No part of this publication (including text, illustrations, tables, and charts) may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including but not limited to electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of PESA.

Microsoft and Windows are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries.

All information, illustrations, and specifications contained in this publication are based on the latest product information available at the time of publication approval. The right is reserved to make changes at any time without notice.

Printed in the United States of America.

May 2020 – Rev E March 2018 – Rev D August 2014 – Rev C September 2013 – Rev B October 2012 – Rev A



### TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1	ABOUT THIS MANUAL	1-1
1.1	DOCUMENTATION AND SAFETY OVERVIEW	1-1
1.2	CAUTIONS, AND NOTES	
CHAPTER 2	INTRODUCTION	
2.1	DESCRIPTION	
2.1	ALTERNATE L OG IN METHODS (OPTIONALLY AVAILABLE FEATURE)	2.7
CHAPTED 3	INSTALLATION	3_1
		2 1
5.1		
3.2	CATTRAX WEB INACTIVITY TIMEOUT FUNCTIONS	3-1
3.3	CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION STEPS FOR MICROSOFT WINDOWS 10	3-2
3.3.1	Install Cattrax Web Application (Windows 10)	3-2
3.3.2	Custom Directory (Windows 10)	3-4
3.3.3	Setting the IIS Recycling Time and Idle Timeout (Windows 10)	3-4
3.3.4	Configure Windows Firewall (Windows 10)	3-5
3.3.5	Configuring IIS to Use LDAP (Windows 10)	3-5
3.3.6	Configure IIS for Secure Connections (Windows 10)	3-6
3.3.7	Test Cattrax Web Operation	3-6
3.4	CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION STEPS FOR MICROSOFT WINDOWS 7	3-6
3.4.1	Install Cattrax Web Application (Windows 7)	3-7
3.4.2	Custom Directory (Windows 7)	3-8
3.4.3	Setting the IIS Recycling Time and Idle Timeout (Windows 7)	3-8
3.4.4	Configure Windows Firewall (Windows 7)	3-9
3.4.5	Configuring IIS to Use LDAP (Windows 7)	3-10
3.4.6	Configure IIS for Secure Connections (Windows 7)	3-10
3.4.7	Test Cattrax Web Operation	3-11
3.5	CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION STEPS FOR MICROSOFT WINDOWS SERVER 2	2008. 3-11
3.5.1	Install Cattrax Web Application (Windows Server 2008)	3-11
3.5.2	Custom Directory (Windows Server 2008)	3-12
3.5.3	Setting the IIS Recycling Time and Idle Timeout (Windows Server 2008)	3-13
3.5.4	Configure Windows Firewall (Windows Server 2008)	3-13
3.5.5	Configuring IIS to Use LDAP (Windows Server 2008)	3-14
3.5.6	Configure IIS for Secure Connections (Windows Server 2008)	3-14
3.5.7	Test Cattrax Web Operation	3-15
3.6	CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION STEPS FOR MICROSOFT WINDOWS SERVER 2 Server 2012 R2	2012 AND 3-15
361	Install Cattrax Web Application (Windows Server 2012 and Server 2012 R2	) 3-15
362	Custom Directory (Windows Server 2012 and Server 2012 R2)	3-18
363	Setting the IIS Recycling Time and Idle Timeout (Windows Server 2012 and	
2.0.0	Server 2012 R2)	
3.6.4	Configure Windows Firewall (Windows Server 2012 and Server 2012 R2)	
3.6.5	Configuring IIS to Use LDAP (Windows Server 2012 and Server 2012 R2)	3-19
3.6.6	Configure IIS for Secure Connections (Windows Server 2012 and Server 20)	12 R2)3-20
3.6.7	Test Cattrax Web Operation	



### TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT.)

3.7	CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION STEPS FOR MICROSOFT WINDOWS SERVE	R 2016. 3-20
3.7.1	Install Cattrax Web Application (Windows Server 2016)	3-21
3.7.2	Custom Directory (Windows Server 2016)	3-23
3.7.3	Setting the IIS Recycling Time and Idle Timeout (Windows Server 2016)	
3.7.4	Configure Windows Firewall (Windows Server 2016)	
3.7.5	Configuring IIS to Use LDAP (Windows Server 2016)	
3.7.7	Test Cattrax Web Operation	
3.8	How to move a Cattrax Web database from a computer with ${ m SC}$	QL SERVER
	2008R2 (WINDOWS XP/7/10) TO A COMPUTER WITH SQL SERVER 2014 (	WINDOWS
	SERVER 2012 AND LATER)	3-26
3.9	TESTING CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION	3-27
3.10	CONFIGURING THE FIREFOX BROWSER TO USE LDAP	3-27
3.11	CATTRAX WEB APPLICATION – UNINSTALL	3-28
CHAPTER 4	INITIAL LOGIN AND SETUP	4-1
4.1	INITIAL LOGIN AND LICENSE ACTIVATION	4-1
4.2	ACTIVATE SOFTWARE LICENSE KEY	4-1
4.2.1	Online Activation	4-2
4.2.2	Manual (Offline) Activation	4-3
4.3	CHANGE THE PASSWORD AND SECURITY QUESTION OF THE ADMIN USER	ACCOUNT
4.4	CREATE A NEW USER ACCOUNT WITH ADMINISTRATOR PRIVILEGE	4-6
CHAPTER 5	OPERATION	5-1
5.1	INTRODUCTION	5-1
5.2	LOGIN TO CATTRAX WEB	5-2
5.3	LANDING PAGE	5-2
5.4	SETUP HOME PAGE	5-3
5.5	CONFIGURE DEVICE NETWORK (ADMINISTRATOR LEVEL USER)	5-4
5.6	OVERVIEW OF ADMINISTRATIVE FUNCTIONS	5-5
5.7	USER CONFIGURATION	5-6
5.7.1	User List Page	5-6
5.7.2	User Profile Page	5-11
5.7.3	User Groups	5-12
5.8	CATTRAX WEB CONTROL SYSTEM ARCHITECTURE OVERVIEW	5-14
5.9	CATTRAX WEB SYSTEM CONFIGURATION	5-15
5.10	HADDWADE CONFICUDATION DACES	5-16
	HARDWARE CONFIGURATION FAGES	
5.10.1	Controllers Page	5-16
5.10.1 5.10.2	Controllers Page	5-16
5.10.1 5.10.2 5.10.3	Controllers Page	



### TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT.)

5.11	WORKSPACES CONFIGURATION	5-24
5.12	SERVER CONFIGURATION FUNCTIONS	5-26
5.13	SERVER CONFIGURATION USER INTERFACE PAGE	5-27
5.13.1	Subnet Broadcast Address Configuration (Subnet Information)	5-28
5.13.2	System resource Icons (Display Options)	5-28
5.13.3	Switching or Routing Display Preference (Display Options)	5-28
5.13.4	System Broadcast Announcement Configuration (Display Options)	5-28
5.13.5	Custom Logo Configuration (Display options)	5-28
5.13.6	General Settings	
5.13.7	Contact Information on Login Page	
5.13.8	Administrative Email Communication Setup	
5.13.9	User Inactivity Timer Configuration (Security Settings)	
5.13.10	Alternative Login Configuration (Active Directory & LDAP)	
5 13 12	Error Mode (Error Messages Mode)	
5.13.12	At TERMATIVE LOC IN CONFICURDATION (OPTIONALLY AWAILABLE FEATURE)	
5.14	ALTERNATIVE LOG-IN CONFIGURATION (OPTIONALLT AVAILABLE FEATU.	KE) 3-30
5.15		
5.10	License	
5.17		
5.18	SWITCHING PAGE	
5.19	MENU BAR	5-36
5.20	WORKSPACE HEADER	5-37
5.21	SWITCHING AREA	5-37
5.21.1	Performing a Switch on the Router	5-37
5.21.2	Destination Lock Modes	5-38
5.21.3	Favorite Destinations	
5.21.4	Undo Function	5-39
5.22	SALVOS WINDOW	5-39
5.23	SALVO CONFIGURATION (CREATE AND EDIT SALVO PAGE)	5-40
5.24	LOG DISPLAY	5-42
CHAPTER 6	EVENT SCHEDULING OPTION	6-1
6.1	INTRODUCTION	6-1
6.2	OVERVIEW	6-1
6.3	EVENT STACK PAGE	6-2
6.3.1	Event Stack Display Matrix	6-2
6.3.2	Master Event Scheduling Pause	6-4
6.4	SCHEDULE EDITING PAGE	6-4
6.5	CREATING SCHEDULE ITEMS	6-6
CHAPTER 7	IN THE EVENT OF DIFFICULTY	7-1
7.1	PESA CUSTOMER SERVICE	



### LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 2-1 EXAMPLE CATTRAX WEB USER INTERFACE PAGE	
FIGURE 4-1 CATTRAY WEB LOGIN PAGE	4-1
FIGURE 4.2 LICENSE ACTIVATION PAGE	
FIGURE 4-2 EICENSE ACTIVATION LAGE	
FIGURE 4-5 CATIKAA WEB SETUP HOME FAGE	
FIGURE 4-4 USER FROFILE FAGE	
TIOURE 4-5 USER LIST FAGE	
FIGURE 5-1 CATTRAX WEB LOGIN PAGE	
FIGURE 5-2 SETUP HOME PAGE	
FIGURE 5-3 SERVER CONFIGURATION PAGE	
FIGURE 5-4 TABLE DISPLAY FORMAT	
FIGURE 5-5 USER LIST PAGE	
FIGURE 5-6 USER PROFILE PAGE	
FIGURE 5-7 USER GROUPS PAGE	
FIGURE 5-8 CATTRAX WEB SYSTEM DIAGRAM	5-15
FIGURE 5-9 CONTROLLERS PAGE	5-16
FIGURE 5-10 VIRTUAL CONTROLLERS PAGE	5-17
FIGURE 5-11 CREATE LISTS PAGE	5-19
FIGURE 5-12 CREATE LISTS CONFIGURATION.	
FIGURE 5-13 SUBSYSTEMS PAGE.	
FIGURE 5-14 WORKSPACES PAGE	
FIGURE 5-15 SERVER CONFIGURATION FUNCTIONS AND USER INTERFACE PAGE	
FIGURE 5-16 BACKUP AND RESTORE PAGE	
FIGURE 5-17 LOGS PAGE	5-33
FIGURE 5-18 EXAMPLE SWITCHING PAGE	5-35
FIGURE 5-19 SALVO EDIT PAGE	
FIGURE 6-1 EXAMPLE EVENT STACK PAGE	6-3
FIGURE 6-2 EXAMPLE SCHEDULE EDITING PAGE	6-5
FIGURE 6-3 EXAMPLE SCHEDULE ITEM CREATION BOX.	6-7



## **Chapter 1 About This Manual**

#### 1.1 DOCUMENTATION AND SAFETY OVERVIEW

This User Guide provides instructions for installation and operation of the Cattrax Web System Control Application, designed and produced by PESA.

It is the responsibility of all personnel involved in the installation, operation, and maintenance of the equipment to know all the applicable safety regulations for the areas they will be working in. Under no circumstances should any person perform any procedure or sequence in this manual if the procedural sequence will directly conflict with local Safe Practices. Local Safe Practices shall remain as the sole determining factor for performing any procedure or sequence outlined in this document.

#### **1.2** CAUTIONS, AND NOTES

Cautions and Notes are addendum statements used in this guide that supply necessary information pertaining to the text or topic they address. Caution statements typically notify you of steps or procedures that could impede installation or operation; and/or cause damage to the equipment. Notes are additional statements that typically provide added information that can simplify and/or enhance the use or operating characteristics of the equipment. Examples of the graphic symbol used to identify each type of statement and the nature of the statement content are shown below:



Caution statements identify conditions or practices that can result in personal injury and/or damage to equipment if the instructions contained in the statement are not complied with.





## **Chapter 2 Introduction**

#### 2.1 DESCRIPTION

PESA's Cattrax Web is a web application for use with the Microsoft Windows 10, Windows 7, Windows Server 2003, Windows Server 2008, Windows Server 2012 or Windows Server 2016 Operating System that allows users to monitor and control a wide variety of PESA routers from virtually any computer with TCP/IP network or internet access to the host server.

User access to Cattrax Web is through a common web browser application, such as Mozilla Firefox or Google Chrome. Cattrax Web communicates through the Ethernet interface of the user's PC directly with a PERC2000 or PERC3000 System Controller and performs in many respects as a PESA hardware remote control panel.

User interface with the application is through very intuitive pages and menus. An example Cattrax Web user interface page for switching functions is shown in Figure 2-1.

NDR	KSPACE	Detro Babayatem	- s	UBSYSTEM	Demo Subsysta	m.	VIRTUAL	CONTROL	ER F3K		
		Destination	Video .	Video.		Audio Leff		Audio Fight		Sources	
	Ai •	1		Ŧ		T		17	A2.*	T	
2	0	Mantor	Barr & Ti	ine .	Bars & Tone	5	Ears & Tone		0	Baro & Tone	
		TV	Easts A To	119	State & Tone		Rars & Tone		12.3	Audio	
i.		Epeakero	Таре		Tape		Tané		0	TenaMis	
		Projector	Carriera		Cameta		Cameta		10	Vivoram	
ť.		Headshones	Camera		Camera		Camera		0	CD.	
í.,		Computer							0.1	040	
		CD .							0	Вішкаў	
		D//D							0.1	Computer	
		Bit-ray									
		Tape									
		RENTI									N.
		RENTI									He
										Manual Take Y	

Figure 2-1 Example Cattrax Web User Interface Page

Access to the Cattrax Web system and router switching operations may be controlled by assigning users to any one of three user privilege levels:

• Administrator – Administrator level users are granted access to all pages and functions of Cattrax Web.



- **Supervisor** Supervisor level users are granted access to both the Switching and Setup functional areas of Cattrax Web, with the exception of the server configuration pages. Following hierarchy, a Supervisor level user cannot:
  - Create a new Administrator level user account,
  - Grant Administrator level access to a new or existing user account, or
  - Edit the account or change access privilege of any user with Administrator privilege.
- **Staff** Staff level users are granted access to only the Switching user interface pages and functions. When a Staff level user logs in to Cattrax Web the application opens immediately to the Switching page.

This User Guide assumes that administrative users who will be configuring the Cattrax Web application have knowledge of PESA router operation and system architecture, the router system controller device and the Cattrax system control software application. Administrative users should be familiar with creating and using controller configuration files, and PESA hardware remote control panel configuration and operation.

User Guides for all of these requisites are available on the Product Information CD included with your system or the PESA website at <u>www.pesa.com</u>.

Regardless of privilege level, all authorized users access router control through the **Switching** (**Routing**) operational area of Cattrax Web. The Switching (Routing) page identifies one or more *workspace* instances to which the specific logged-in user has been granted access. Workspace instances are created by system administrators or supervisors to very specifically assign and control router access to individual users or user groups.

#### 2.2 ALTERNATE LOG IN METHODS (OPTIONALLY AVAILABLE FEATURE)

If this optional feature is licensed for your installation, Cattrax Web supports user log in with externally authenticated domain login credentials through either Microsoft Active Directory Domain Services (Active Directory) or a domain server running the Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP), if either, or both, of these network services are available on your facility's IT infrastructure.

Active Directory typically provides quicker access to the application by allowing an authorized user to automatically launch Cattrax Web using Windows domain login credentials instead of entering a Cattrax Web specific user ID and password.

Alternate log in methods can also provide additional user access security. Cattrax Web allows the system administrator to, for specified users, disable the Login Page option of entering application-specific user ID and password credentials assigned to the user at the time of account creation or through subsequent user account changes to access Cattrax Web, and allow these users access only by using authenticated domain login credentials.

These features can provide the system designer or security officer a great deal of latitude in controlling user access by effectively allowing the system administrator to assign, on an individual user basis, authorized methods of login access to Cattrax Web. For example, login access may be restricted for certain users in such a way to require use of a Common Access Card (CAC) card, a Personal Identity Verification (PIV) card, or other externally authenticated login credentials.

Alternate login privileges may be individually assigned to Cattrax Web users on an as-needed basis.

In order to use either of these methods, you must first configure Cattrax Web through settings entered on the Server Configuration page of the application during system set-up. Refer to paragraph 5.14.



## **Chapter 3 Installation**

#### 3.1 OVERVIEW

Preparing Cattrax Web for operation requires installation of the following main programs:

1. **Microsoft SQL Server Express** (or SQLExpress) – installed using the *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe* program.

NOTE: Ensure that there are no Microsoft SQL Server databases or SQL Server versions, other than for Cattrax Web, installed on the PC or server on which you are installing the application.

- 2. **Microsoft IIS** (Internet Information Services) installed from the Windows Control Panel using procedures presented in the following paragraphs.
- 3. Cattrax Web Application installed using the *Cattrax Web x.x.x Setup.exe* program. It includes any updates to the Cattrax Web database.

Microsoft Windows Operating System versions currently supported are Windows 10, Windows 7, Windows Server 2003, Windows Server 2008, Windows Server 2012 and Windows Server 2016. This document provides Cattrax Web installation steps for each operating system and includes additional detail information as required.

Install Cattrax Web for your particular operating system using procedures presented in paragraphs 3.3 thru 3.7.

While not a part of the initial installation procedure, for system planning purposes the installer should be aware that as an optionally available feature, Cattrax Web permits versatile user log in capabilities through the optional use of the Windows Active Directory Domain Services (Active Directory) or the Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP). The installer has the option of configuring user login access through either or both of these methods. The Cattrax Web application must be installed and operating before either of these login methods can be configured and implemented. Refer to Paragraph 2.2 for more information.

PESA recommends that you read this document and familiarize yourself with the Cattrax Web application and the procedures applicable to your operating system before starting the installation.

#### 3.2 CATTRAX WEB INACTIVITY TIMEOUT FUNCTIONS

Microsoft IIS incorporates timeout functions that cause certain tasks to be executed after a set amount of time has elapsed. Cattrax Web makes use of this capability in two ways.

One is the user inactivity timeout, or *session timeout*, that causes IIS to drop a user's open session after a user has not had any active interface with the software application for a set amount of time. The amount of time for session timeout can be set by an administrative user from the Server Configuration page.

The second function is the *application idle timeout*. With this timeout when no user activity is detected for the set period of time, the Cattrax Web application is dropped by the server, communication is dropped between Cattrax Web and all discovered network devices, and all user pages, such as Switching pages, are closed. The purpose of having this capability is to reduce resource requirement of the server computer when the Cattrax Web application is not in use.



When a user logs in to Cattrax Web after an application idle timeout has occurred, the application must restart and reload all previous session data and reestablish communications with network devices. While it only takes a couple of minutes to restart the application, it is often desirable to have this time set to a value that would prevent an application timeout from occurring during what would be a normal workday or system use session.

The amount of time that must elapse before an application idle timeout occurs may be defined, but is not a setting that is available from the configuration pages. This value must be entered directly through the IIS Manager Utility.

Specific procedures for setting the application timeout with each supported operating system are provided in the following installation paragraphs.

#### 3.3 CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION STEPS FOR MICROSOFT WINDOWS 10



An active connection to the internet may be required for completion of the installation steps in the following paragraphs. If the PC or server device on which you are installing Cattrax Web will be used in a facility where internet access is not available, PESA recommends that you complete and test installation of the software before installing the device in the secure area.

#### 3.3.1 INSTALL CATTRAX WEB APPLICATION (WINDOWS 10)

- 1. Login with Administrator privilege to the server on which you wish to install Cattrax Web.
- 2. Insert the installation disk.
- 3. Run *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe*, click *Next* when prompted. On the *Choose Components* page, leave all boxes checked unless instructed otherwise by PESA Customer Service. Select *Install* to continue with installation.

### While running the Prerequisites installation disk, if the installer application requests a restart of the computer, follow these guidelines:

- Respond "Yes" to allow the computer to reboot if the installer asks permission.
- Run the *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe* file again after any reboots. This ensures all prerequisites are installed.
- 4. Click "Finish" to complete installation of Prerequisites.
- 5. Click Start, Settings, Apps, Programs & Features, Turn Windows Features on or off.

**Note:** If your Windows 10 installation does not display the option "Turn Windows Features on or off", it could be hidden by an IT Group Policy restriction, even if your operator's account has Admin level privileges. If hidden, go to the Start  $\rightarrow$  Run box and type "*appwiz.cpl*". This will display the dialog containing the "Turn Windows Features on or off" prompt.

- 6. Check the box next to Internet Information Services, and then expand it.
- 7. Expand World Wide Web Services, and then expand Application Development Services.
- 8. Check the box next to ASP.NET 3.5.
- 9. Expand the *Common HTTP Features* entry from the tree.



- 10. Place a check in the box beside HTTP Errors and Static Content.
- 11. If you will be using the *Additional Login Options* feature, follow the next two steps; otherwise, skip to Step 14.
- 12. Expand the *Security* entry from the tree.
- 13. Check the box next to Windows Authentication.
- 14. Click Ok.
- 15. Run *Cattrax Web x.x.x Setup.exe*, click *Next* at the initial prompt. You will be asked to read and agree to the terms of the Cattrax Web software license. Click "*I Agree*" to continue with installation.
- 16. On the *Choose Components* page, leave all three boxes checked unless instructed otherwise by PESA Customer Service. Click "*Next*" to continue to the "*Choose Installation Location*" prompt.
- 17. Use of the default install location is recommended; however, you may change the default location in the "Choose Install Location" page of the wizard. Be aware, that choosing a location that is outside the wwwroot directory might interfere with access to the Cattrax Web website. Click "*Install*" to begin the installation process.

**Note:** If a **Database Update Error** popup message is displayed, click OK. Repeat steps 15 and 16. It may be necessary to repeat steps 15 and 16 up to three (3) times in order to resolve all database update errors.

- 18. A progress bar allows you verify installation. If a popup is displayed asking permission to shutdown Cattrax Web, click OK. Upon completion, you will be prompted to click *"Finish"* to complete the installation process.
- 19. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS)
- 20. In the left panel, expand Sites.
- 21. Double click *Sites -> Default Web Site*.
- 22. Double click the CSS directory.
- 23. Right click the Images directory and select "Edit Permissions ... ".
- 24. Select the Security tab.
- 25. Click Edit.
- 26. Select ASP.NET Machine Account. If that entry is not listed, select "IIS\_USERS".
- 27. Click the Write check box in the Allow column.
- 28. Click OK to close the Edit dialog.
- 29. Click OK to close the Properties dialog.

#### On 64-bit systems, you will need to configure IIS to run 32-bit applications, as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Expand the first node on the *Connections* panel and click *Application Pools*.
- 3. Right-click *DefaultAppPool*, select Advanced Settings, and change *Enable 32-Bit Applications* to *True*, if that option is not already selected.
- 4. Click OK.



#### **3.3.2** CUSTOM DIRECTORY (WINDOWS 10)

The default installation directory is: c:\InetPub\wwwroot. Use of this directory is recommended.

A custom installation directory may also be selected. For example: c:\MySites\CattraxWeb. This should be used if another website is already installed in the root directory.

After changing the default directory, configure a virtual directory as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Expand Web Sites and then right click Default Web Site.
- 3. Click "Add Application...".
- 4. On the Add Application window, in field labeled Alias, enter a name to follow the host address (i.e. if the Alias is named CattraxWeb, the address would be 192.168.1.1/CattraxWeb).
- 5. In the field labeled Physical Path, enter the path to the directory where the Cattrax Web wwwroot directory was installed. (i.e. if the custom directory is named cw, then the path would be C:\inetpub\wwwroot\cw\wwwroot).
- 6. Click OK.
- 7. Test the installation by opening a browser and typing localhost/[Alias].

#### **3.3.3** SETTING THE IIS RECYCLING TIME AND IDLE TIMEOUT (WINDOWS 10)

In order to set the IIS recycling time through Windows 10 use the following procedure:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. On the left side of the window under "Connections", expand the local computer name.
- 3. Click the *Application Pools* entry.
- 4. In the middle panel, Application Pools, select the *DefaultAppPool* entry.
- 5. In the right panel, select the *Set Application Pool Defaults* entry.
- 6. In the dialog under Process Model, edit the Idle Time-out. Enter a value such as 480 minutes.

**NOTE:** The "minutes" value entered will set the amount of time during which the CattraxWeb application will not be unloaded by IIS should no user command be received, such as changing which page is displayed, entering data, or making a switch. Using the example of 480 minutes will set the Idle Time-out at 8 hours.

- 7. Scroll down to the *Recycling* entry.
- 8. Under *Regular Time Interval*, set the value to zero (0).
- 9. Click the "..." item in the right side of the *Specific Times* entry.
- 10. Click Add in the dialog.
- 11. Enter a specific time of day, such as 01:00:00 for 1 AM. Select a time of day which is low demand.
- 12. Click *OK* to accept the time value entered.
- 13 Click *OK* to close the dialog.
- 14. Restart IIS to activate settings.



#### 3.3.4 CONFIGURE WINDOWS FIREWALL (WINDOWS 10)

Use this procedure if you are using the Windows Firewall in Windows 10 in the Cattrax Web host server:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, run Windows Firewall with Advanced Security.
- 2. In the left panel, click Inbound Rules.
- 3. In the right panel, click *New Rule*.
- 4. In Rule Type window, select Port and click Next.
- 5. In the Program window, select All Programs and click Next.
- 6. In *Protocol and Ports*, select *TCP and Specified local ports*, and set the port value to 80 and click Next.
- 7. In Action, select Allow the Connection and click Next.
- 8. In *Profile*, select all items (or as appropriate based on who would have access to Cattrax Web) and click Next.
- 9. In *Name*, give this rule a name and optionally a description and click on Finish. A good name to use is "HTTP".
- 10. Repeat steps 1 thru 9 above using a port value of 443 and the name "HTTPS".



It is also possible to turn off the firewall completely but NOT RECOMMENDED.

#### **3.3.5** CONFIGURING IIS TO USE LDAP (WINDOWS 10)

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site.
- 3. In the middle panel, open Authentication under Security.
- 4. Set Windows Authentication to Disabled.
- 5. If Forms Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 6. If Anonymous Authentication is listed, set it to Enabled.
- 7. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site -> NTLM.
- 8. In the middle panel, open Authentication under Security.
- 9. Set Windows Authentication to Enabled.
- 10. If Forms Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 11. If Anonymous Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 12. Exit IIS Manager.



#### 3.3.6 CONFIGURE IIS FOR SECURE CONNECTIONS (WINDOWS 10)

By default, IIS accepts only non-secure connections (http protocol). IIS can be configured to accept secure connections (https protocol) using Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) in addition to non-secure connections. IIS can also be configured to accept only secure connections.

In addition to configuration IIS, the web server will also need a certificate. If you do not have a certificate, one will need to be created. You can either create a self-signed certificate or obtain a certificate from a recognized Certificate Authority (CA). For information on how to create a self-signed certificate, go to <a href="http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bfsktky3(v=vs.90).aspx">http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bfsktky3(v=vs.90).aspx</a>. For information about how to obtain a certificate from a certificate from a recognized Certificate Authority (CA), contact your administrator.

Configure Windows 10 IIS to Accept Secure Connections as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Select the Cattrax Web website in the left panel. Unless a custom directory was selected during the installation, it will be "Default Web Site".
- 3. Right click on the tree node and select "Edit Bindings".
- 4. Click the "Add..." button.
- 5. Select "https" in the "Type:" drop-down list.
- 6. Select your SSL certificate in the "SSL certificate:" drop-down list.
- 7. Leave the other values text boxes unchanged unless given different values by your administrator.
- 8. Click the "OK" button to close the "Add Site Binding" dialog box.
- 9. Click the "Close" button to close the "Site Bindings" dialog box.

#### To also disable non-secure connections, continue with these steps:

- 10. Ensure the website node is still selected in the left panel.
- 11. Double click the "SSL Settings" item.
- 12. Check the "Require SSL" checkbox.

For more information on enabling secure connections in Windows 10, refer to http://www.iis.net/learn/manage/configuring-security/how-to-set-up-ssl-on-iis

#### 3.3.7 TEST CATTRAX WEB OPERATION

Upon completion of installation, test Cattrax Web operation in accordance with paragraph 3.9.

#### 3.4 CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION STEPS FOR MICROSOFT WINDOWS 7



An active connection to the internet may be required for completion of the installation steps in the following paragraphs. If the PC or server device on which you are installing Cattrax Web will be used in a facility where internet access is not available, PESA recommends that you complete and test installation of the software before installing the device in the secure area.



#### 3.4.1 INSTALL CATTRAX WEB APPLICATION (WINDOWS 7)

- 1. Login with Administrator privilege to the server on which you wish to install Cattrax Web.
- 2. Insert the installation disk.
- 3. Run *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe*, click *Next* when prompted. On the *Choose Components* page, leave all boxes checked unless instructed otherwise by PESA Customer Service. Select *Install* to continue with installation.

### While running the Prerequisites installation disk, if the installer application requests a restart of the computer, follow these guidelines:

- Respond "Yes" to allow the computer to reboot if the installer asks permission.
- Run the *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe* file again after any reboots. This ensures all prerequisites are installed.
- 4. Click "Finish" to complete installation of Prerequisites.
- 5. Click Start, Control Panel, Programs, Turn Windows Features on or off.
- 6. Check the box next to Internet Information Services, and then expand it.
- 7. Expand World Wide Web Services, and then expand Application Development Features.
- 8. Check the box next to ASP.NET.
- 9. Expand the *Common HTTP Features* entry from the tree.
- 10. Place a check in the box beside *HTTP Errors* and *Static Content*.
- 11. If you will be using the *Additional Login Options* feature, follow the next two steps; otherwise, skip to Step 14.
- 12. Expand the *Security* entry from the tree.
- 13. Check the box next to Windows Authentication.
- 14. Click Ok.
- 15. Run *Cattrax Web x.x.x Setup.exe*, click *Next* at the initial prompt. You will be asked to read and agree to the terms of the Cattrax Web software license. Click "*I Agree*" to continue with installation.
- 16. On the *Choose Components* page, leave all three boxes checked unless instructed otherwise by PESA Customer Service. Click "*Next*" to continue to the "*Choose Installation Location*" prompt.
- 17. Use of the default install location is recommended; however, you may change the default location in the "Choose Install Location" page of the wizard. Be aware, that choosing a location that is outside the wwwroot directory might interfere with access to the Cattrax Web website. Click "*Install*" to begin the installation process.

**Note:** If a **Database Update Error** popup message is displayed, click OK. Repeat steps 15 and 16. It may be necessary to repeat steps 15 and 16 up to three (3) times in order to resolve all database update errors.

- 18. A progress bar allows you verify installation. Upon completion, you will be prompted to click *"Finish"* to complete the installation process.
- 19. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).



- 20. In the left panel, expand Sites.
- 21. Double click *Sites -> Default Web Site*.
- 22. Double click the CSS directory.
- 23. Right click the Images directory and select "Edit Permissions...".
- 24. Select the Security tab.
- 25. Click Edit.
- 26. Select ASP.NET Machine Account. If that entry is not listed, select "IIS USERS".
- 27. Click the *Write* check box in the *Allow* column.
- 28. Click OK to close the Edit dialog.
- 29. Click OK to close the *Properties* dialog.

#### On 64-bit systems, you will need to configure IIS to run 32-bit applications, as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Expand the first node on the *Connections* panel and click *Application Pools*.
- 3. Right-click *DefaultAppPool*, select Advanced Settings, and change *Enable 32-Bit Applications* to *True*, if that option is not already selected.
- 4. Click OK.

#### 3.4.2 CUSTOM DIRECTORY (WINDOWS 7)

The default installation directory is: c:\InetPub\wwwroot. Use of this directory is recommended.

A custom installation directory may also be selected. For example: c:\MySites\CattraxWeb. This should be used if another website is already installed in the root directory.

After changing the default directory, configure a virtual directory as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Expand Web Sites and then right click Default Web Site.
- 3. Click "Add Application...".
- 4. On the Add Application window, in field labeled Alias, enter a name to follow the host address (i.e. if the Alias is named CattraxWeb, the address would be 192.168.1.1/CattraxWeb).
- 5. In the field labeled Physical Path, enter the path to the directory where the Cattrax Web wwwroot directory was installed. (i.e. if the custom directory is named cw, then the path would be C:\inetpub\wwwroot\cw\wwwroot).
- 6. Click OK.
- 7. Test the installation by opening a browser and typing localhost/[Alias].

#### **3.4.3** SETTING THE IIS RECYCLING TIME AND IDLE TIMEOUT (WINDOWS 7)

In order to set the IIS recycling time through Windows 7 use the following procedure:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. On the left side of the window under "Connections", expand the local computer name.



- 3. Click the Application Pools entry.
- 4. In the middle panel, Application Pools, select the *DefaultAppPool* entry.
- 5. In the right panel, select the Set Application Pool Defaults entry.
- 6. In the dialog under Process Model, edit the Idle Time-out. Enter a value such as 480 minutes.

**NOTE:** The "minutes" value entered will set the amount of time during which the CattraxWeb application will not be unloaded by IIS if no user command is received, such as changing which page is displayed, entering data, or making a switch. Using the example of 480 minutes will set the Idle Time-out at 8 hours.

- 7. Scroll down to the *Recycling* entry.
- 8. Under *Regular Time Interval*, set the value to zero (0).
- 9. Click the "..." item in the right side of the *Specific Times* entry.
- 10. Click Add in the dialog.
- 11. Enter a specific time of day, such as 01:00:00 for 1 AM. Select a time of day which is low demand.
- 12. Click OK to accept the time value entered.
- 13 Click *OK* to close the dialog.
- 14. Restart IIS to activate settings.

#### 3.4.4 CONFIGURE WINDOWS FIREWALL (WINDOWS 7)

Use this procedure if you are using the Windows Firewall in Windows 7 in the Cattrax Web host server:

- 1. Open Control Panel from the Start menu.
- 2. Open Windows Firewall.
- 3. From the left column, open Advanced Settings.
- 4. Select New Rules from the Inbound Rules right click menu in the left column and then follow the wizard as follows:
  - a. In Rule Type window select Port and click Next,
  - b. In Protocol and Ports Select TCP and Specified local ports, and set the port value to 80 and click *Next*,
  - c. In Action window Select Allow the Connection and click Next,
  - d. In Profile window Select all items (or as appropriate based on who would have access to Cattrax Web) and click *Next*,
  - e. In the Name window Give this special set up a name and description and click on Finish. A good name to use for such a special setup would be "HTTP".



It is also possible to turn off the firewall completely but NOT RECOMMENDED.



#### 3.4.5 CONFIGURING IIS TO USE LDAP (WINDOWS 7)

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site.
- 3. In the middle panel, open Authentication under Security.
- 4. Set Windows Authentication to Disabled.
- 5. If Forms Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 6. If Anonymous Authentication is listed, set it to Enabled.
- 7. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site -> NTLM.
- 8. In the middle panel, open Authentication under Security.
- 9. Set Windows Authentication to Enabled.
- 10. If Forms Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 11. If Anonymous Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 12. Exit IIS Manager.

#### 3.4.6 CONFIGURE IIS FOR SECURE CONNECTIONS (WINDOWS 7)

By default, IIS accepts only non-secure connections (http protocol). IIS can be configured to accept secure connections (https protocol) using Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) in addition to non-secure connections. IIS can also be configured to accept only secure connections.

In addition to configuration IIS, the web server will also need a certificate. If you do not have a certificate, one will need to be created. You can either create a self-signed certificate or obtain a certificate from a recognized Certificate Authority (CA). For information on how to create a self-signed certificate, go to <a href="http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bfsktky3(v=vs.90">http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bfsktky3(v=vs.90</a>). For information about how to obtain a certificate from a certificate from a recognized Certificate Authority (CA), contact your administrator.

Configure Windows 7 IIS to Accept Secure Connections as follows:

- 13. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 14. Select the Cattrax Web website in the left panel. Unless a custom directory was selected during the installation, it will be "Default Web Site".
- 15. Right click on the tree node and select "Edit Bindings".
- 16. Click the "Add..." button.
- 17. Select "https" in the "Type:" drop-down list.
- 18. Select your SSL certificate in the "SSL certificate:" drop-down list.
- 19. Leave the other values text boxes unchanged unless given different values by your administrator.
- 20. Click the "OK" button to close the "Add Site Binding" dialog box.
- 21. Click the "Close" button to close the "Site Bindings" dialog box.

#### To also disable non-secure connections, continue with these steps:

22. Ensure the website node is still selected in the left panel.



- 23. Double click the "SSL Settings" item.
- 24. Check the "Require SSL" checkbox.

For more information on enabling secure connections in Windows 7, refer to <a href="http://www.iis.net/learn/manage/configuring-security/how-to-set-up-ssl-on-iis">http://www.iis.net/learn/manage/configuring-security/how-to-set-up-ssl-on-iis</a>.

#### 3.4.7 TEST CATTRAX WEB OPERATION

Upon completion of installation, test Cattrax Web operation in accordance with paragraph 3.9.

#### 3.5 CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION STEPS FOR MICROSOFT WINDOWS SERVER 2008



An active connection to the internet may be required for completion of the installation steps in the following paragraphs. If the PC or server device on which you are installing Cattrax Web will be used in a facility where internet access is not available, PESA recommends that you complete and test installation of the software before installing the device in the secure area.

#### 3.5.1 INSTALL CATTRAX WEB APPLICATION (WINDOWS SERVER 2008)

- 1. Login with Administrator privilege to the server on which you wish to install Cattrax Web.
- 2. Insert the installation disk.
- 3. Run *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe*, click *Next* when prompted. On the *Choose Components* page, leave all boxes checked unless instructed otherwise by PESA Customer Service. Select *Install* to continue with installation.

### While running the Prerequisites installation disk, if the installer application requests a restart of the computer, follow these guidelines:

- Respond "Yes" to allow the computer to reboot if the installer asks permission.
- Run the *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe* file again after any reboots. This ensures all prerequisites are installed.
- 4. Click "Finish" to complete installation of Prerequisites.
- 5. Click Start, and then Server Manager.
- 6. On the left panel, click Roles, and then click Add Roles.
- 7. On Before You Begin, click Next.
- 8. On Select Server Roles, click Add Required Features, and then click Next.
- 9. On Web Server (IIS), click Next.
- 10. On Select Server Roles, check ASP.NET under Application Development, and then click Next.
- 11. On Confirmation, click Install.
- 12. On Confirm Installation Selections, click Install.
- 13. Run *Cattrax Web x.x.x Setup.exe*, click *Next* at the initial prompt. You will be asked to read and agree to the terms of the Cattrax Web software license. Click "*I Agree*" to continue with installation.



- 14. On the *Choose Components* page, leave all three boxes checked unless instructed otherwise by PESA Customer Service. Click "*Next*" to continue to the "*Choose Installation Location*" prompt.
- 15. Use of the default install location is recommended; however, you may change the default location in the "Choose Install Location" page of the wizard. Be aware, that choosing a location that is outside the wwwroot directory might interfere with access to the Cattrax Web website. Click "*Install*" to begin the installation process.

**Note:** If a **Database Update Error** popup message is displayed, click OK. Repeat steps 13 and 14. It may be necessary to repeat steps 13 and 14 up to three (3) times in order to resolve all database update errors.

- 16. A progress bar allows you verify installation. Upon completion, you will be prompted to click *"Finish"* to complete the installation process.
- 17. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 18. In the left panel, expand Sites.
- 19. Double click *Sites -> Default Web Site*.
- 20. Double click the CSS directory.
- 21. Right click the Images directory and select "Edit Permissions...".
- 22. Select the *Security* tab.
- 23. Click Edit.
- 24. Select ASP.NET Machine Account. If that entry is not listed, select "IIS USERS".
- 25. Click the *Write* check box in the *Allow* column.
- 26. Click OK to close the *Edit* dialog.
- 27. Click OK to close the *Properties* dialog.

#### On 64-bit systems, you will need to configure IIS to run 32-bit applications, as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Expand the first node on the *Connections* panel and click *Application Pools*.
- 3. Right-click *DefaultAppPool*, select Advanced Settings, and change *Enable 32-Bit Applications* to *True*, if that option is not already selected.
- 4. Click OK.

#### 3.5.2 CUSTOM DIRECTORY (WINDOWS SERVER 2008)

The default installation directory is: c:\InetPub\wwwroot. Use of this directory is recommended.

A custom installation directory may also be selected. For example: c:\MySites\CattraxWeb. This should be used if another website is already installed in the root directory.

After changing the default directory, configure a virtual directory as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Expand Sites and then right click Default Web Site.
- 3. Click New, and then click "Add Application..".



- 4. On the Add Application window, in field labeled Alias, enter a name to follow the host address (i.e. if the Alias is named CattraxWeb, the address would be 192.168.1.1/CattraxWeb).
- 5. In the field labeled Physical Path, enter the path to the directory where the Cattrax Web wwwroot directory was installed. (i.e. if the custom directory is named cw, then the path would be C:\inetpub\wwwroot\cw\wwwroot).
- 6. Click OK.
- 7. Test the installation by opening a browser and typing localhost/[Alias].

#### 3.5.3 SETTING THE IIS RECYCLING TIME AND IDLE TIMEOUT (WINDOWS SERVER 2008)

In order to set the IIS recycling time through Windows Server 2008 use the following procedure:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. On the left side of the window under "Connections", expand the local computer name.
- 3. Click the Application Pools entry.
- 4. In the middle panel, Application Pools, select the *DefaultAppPool* entry.
- 5. In the right panel, select the Set Application Pool Defaults entry.
- 6. In the dialog under Process Model, edit the Idle Time-out. Enter a value such as 480 minutes.

**NOTE:** The "minutes" value entered will set the amount of time during which the CattraxWeb application will not be unloaded by IIS if no user command is received, such as changing which page is displayed, entering data, or making a switch. Using the example of 480 minutes will set the Idle Time-out at 8 hours.

- 7. Scroll down to the *Recycling* entry.
- 8. Under *Regular Time Interval*, set the value to zero (0).
- 9. Click the "..." item in the right side of the *Specific Times* entry.
- 10. Click Add in the dialog.
- 11. Enter a specific time of day, such as 01:00:00 for 1 AM. Select a time of day which is low demand.
- 12. Click *OK* to accept the time value entered.
- 13 Click *OK* to close the dialog.
- 14. Restart IIS to activate settings.

#### 3.5.4 CONFIGURE WINDOWS FIREWALL (WINDOWS SERVER 2008)

Use this procedure if you are using the Windows Firewall in Windows Server 2008 in the Cattrax Web host server:

- 1. Open Control Panel from the Start menu.
- 2. Open Windows Firewall.
- 3. From the left column, open Advanced Settings.



- 4. Select New Rules from the Inbound Rules right click menu in the left column and then follow the wizard as follows:
  - a. In Rule Type window select Port and click Next,
  - b. In Protocol and Ports Select TCP and Specified local ports, and set the port value to 80 and click *Next*,
  - c. In Action window Select Allow the Connection and click Next,
  - d. In Profile window Select all items (or as appropriate based on who would have access to Cattrax Web) and click *Next*,
  - e. In the Name window Give this special set up a name and description and click on Finish. A good name to use for such a special setup would be "HTTP".



It is also possible to turn off the firewall completely but NOT RECOMMENDED.

#### 3.5.5 CONFIGURING IIS TO USE LDAP (WINDOWS SERVER 2008)

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site.
- 3. In the middle panel, open Authentication under Security.
- 4. Set Windows Authentication to Disabled.
- 5. Set Forms Authentication to Disabled.
- 6. Set Anonymous Authentication to Enabled.
- 7. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site -> NTLM.
- 8. In the middle panel, open Authentication under Security.
- 9. Set Windows Authentication to Enabled.
- 10. Set Forms Authentication to Disabled.
- 11. Set Anonymous Authentication to Disabled.
- 12. Exit IIS Manager.

#### 3.5.6 CONFIGURE IIS FOR SECURE CONNECTIONS (WINDOWS SERVER 2008)

By default, IIS accepts only non-secure connections (http protocol). IIS can be configured to accept secure connections (https protocol) using Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) in addition to non-secure connections. IIS can also be configured to accept only secure connections.

In addition to configuration IIS, the web server will also need a certificate. If you do not have a certificate, one will need to be created. You can either create a self-signed certificate or obtain a certificate from a recognized Certificate Authority (CA). For information on how to create a self-signed certificate, go to <a href="http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bfsktky3(v=vs.90).aspx">http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bfsktky3(v=vs.90).aspx</a>. For information about how to obtain a certificate from a certificate from a recognized Certificate Authority (CA), contact your administrator.



Configure Windows Server 2008 IIS to Accept Secure Connections as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Select the Cattrax Web website in the left panel. Unless a custom directory was selected during the installation, it will be "Default Web Site".
- 3. Right click on the tree node and select "Edit Bindings".
- 4. Click the "Add..." button.
- 5. Select "https" in the "Type:" drop-down list.
- 6. Select your SSL certificate in the "SSL certificate:" drop-down list.
- 7. Leave the other values text boxes unchanged unless given different values by your administrator.
- 8. Click the "OK" button to close the "Add Site Binding" dialog box.
- 9. Click the "Close" button to close the "Site Bindings" dialog box.

#### To also disable non-secure connections, continue with these steps:

- 10. Ensure the website node is still selected in the left panel.
- 11. Double click the "SSL Settings" item.
- 12. Check the "Require SSL" checkbox.
- 13. For more information on enabling secure connections in Windows Server 2008, refer to <a href="http://www.iis.net/learn/manage/configuring-security/how-to-set-up-ssl-on-iis">http://www.iis.net/learn/manage/configuring-security/how-to-set-up-ssl-on-iis</a>.

#### 3.5.7 TEST CATTRAX WEB OPERATION

Upon completion of installation, test Cattrax Web operation in accordance with paragraph 3.9.

#### 3.6 CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION STEPS FOR MICROSOFT WINDOWS SERVER 2012 AND SERVER 2012 R2



An active connection to the internet may be required for completion of the installation steps in the following paragraphs. If the PC or server device on which you are installing Cattrax Web will be used in a facility where internet access is not available, PESA recommends that you complete and test installation of the software before installing the device in the secure area.

#### 3.6.1 INSTALL CATTRAX WEB APPLICATION (WINDOWS SERVER 2012 AND SERVER 2012 R2)

- 1. Login with Administrator privilege to the server on which you wish to install Cattrax Web.
- 2. Start the Server Manager.
- 3. Click Add Roles and Features.
- 4. On Before You Begin, click Next.
- 5. On Installation Type, select the correct choice for your system and click Next.
- 6. On Server Selection, select the correct choice for your system and click Next.



- 7. On Server Roles, select Web Server (IIS) -> Web Server -> Application Development ->.NET Extensibility 3.5.
- 8. If a Dialog appears asking permission to install .NET Framework 3.5, Check the box "Include management tools" and then click "Add Features"; otherwise, proceed to Step 9.
- 9. Select Web Server (IIS) -> Web Server -> Application Development -> ASP.NET 3.5.
- 10. Click Next.
- 11. On Features, select >NET Framework 3.5 Features -> .NET Framework 3.5.
- 12. On Features, select >NET Framework 3.5 Features -> .NET Framework 3.5 -> HTTP Activation.
- 13. If a Dialog appears asking permission to install .NET Environment 3.5, Check the box "Include management tools" and then click "Add Features"; otherwise, proceed to Step 14.
- 14. Select >NET Framework 4.x Features -> WCF Services.
- 15. Click Next.
- 16. On Confirmation, specify an alternate source path if necessary.
- 17. On confirmation, click Install.
- 18. When finished, click "Close".
- 19. Exit Server Manager.
- 20. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 21. In the left panel, expand the local computer name.
- 22. Click the Application Pools entry.
- 23. In the middle panel, Application Pools, select the DefaultAppPool entry.
- 24. In the right panel under Edit Application Pool, click Advanced Settings.
- 25. In the dialog, ensure that General -> Enable 32-Bit Applications is set to True.
- 26. Scroll down to Recycling -> Specific Times.
- 27. Click the ... item to the right of TimeSpan[] Array.
- 28. If a textbox is not displayed in the left column, click Add.
- 29. Enter a specific time of day, such as 01:00:00 for 1 AM in the field next to Value. Select a time of day which is low demand.
- 30. Click OK to accept the time value entered.
- 31. Click OK to close the Application Pool Defaults dialog.
- 32. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site.
- 33. In the right panel under Actions, click Basic Settings.
- 34. Ensure that "%SystemDrive%\inetpub\wwwroot" or "C:\intepub\wwwroot" is in the text box Physical path.
- 35. Ensure that the Application Pool is set to DefaultAppPool.
- 36. Click OK to close the Edit Site dialog.
- 37. Exit IIS Manager.



- 38. Insert the Cattrax Web installation disk.
- 39. Run *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe*, click *Next* when prompted. On the *Choose Components* page, leave all boxes checked unless instructed otherwise by PESA Customer Service. Select *Install* to continue with installation.

While running the Prerequisites installation disk, if the installer application requests a restart of the computer, follow these guidelines:

- Respond "Yes" to allow the computer to reboot if the installer asks permission.
- Run the *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe* file again after any reboots. This ensures all prerequisites are installed.
- 40. Click "Finish" to complete installation of Prerequisites.
- 41. Run *Cattrax Web x.x.x Setup.exe*, click *Next* at the initial prompt. You will be asked to read and agree to the terms of the Cattrax Web software license. Click *"I Agree"* to continue with installation.
- 42. On the *Choose Components* page, leave all three boxes checked unless instructed otherwise by PESA Customer Service. Click "*Next*" to continue to the "*Choose Installation Location*" prompt.
- 43. Use of the default install location is recommended; however, you may change the default location in the "Choose Install Location" page of the wizard. Be aware, that choosing a location that is outside the wwwroot directory might interfere with access to the Cattrax Web website. Click "*Install*" to begin the installation process.

**Note:** If a **Database Update Error** popup message is displayed, click OK. Repeat steps 41 and 42. It may be necessary to repeat steps 41 and 42 up to three (3) times in order to resolve all database update errors.

- 44. A progress bar allows you verify installation. Upon completion, you will be prompted to click *"Finish"* to complete the installation process.
- 44. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 45. In the left panel, expand Sites.
- 46. Double click *Sites -> Default Web Site*.
- 47. Double click the *CSS* directory.
- 48. Right click the Images directory and select "Edit Permissions...".
- 49. Select the *Security* tab.
- 50. Click Edit.
- 51. Select ASP.NET Machine Account. If that entry is not listed, select "IIS USERS".
- 52. Click the *Write* check box in the *Allow* column.
- 53. Click OK to close the *Edit* dialog.
- 54. Click OK to close the *Properties* dialog.

#### On 64-bit systems, you will need to configure IIS to run 32-bit applications, as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Expand the first node on the *Connections* panel and click *Application Pools*.



- 3. Right-click *DefaultAppPool*, select Advanced Settings, and change *Enable 32-Bit Applications* to *True*, if that option is not already selected.
- 4. Click OK.

#### 3.6.2 CUSTOM DIRECTORY (WINDOWS SERVER 2012 AND SERVER 2012 R2)

The default installation directory is: c:\InetPub\wwwroot. Use of this directory is recommended.

A custom installation directory may also be selected. For example: c:\MySites\CattraxWeb. This should be used if another website is already installed in the root directory.

After changing the default directory, configure a virtual directory as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site.
- 3. In the right panel under Actions, click Basic Settings.
- 4. Enter the path you want to use in the text box Physical path.
- 5. Click OK to close the Edit Site dialog.
- 6. Exit IIS Manager.

## 3.6.3 SETTING THE IIS RECYCLING TIME AND IDLE TIMEOUT (WINDOWS SERVER 2012 AND SERVER 2012 R2)

In order to set the recycling time through Windows Server 2012 and Server 2012 R2 use the following procedure:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. On the left side of the window under "Connections", expand the local computer name.
- 3. Click the Application Pools entry.
- 4. In the middle panel, Application Pools, select the *DefaultAppPool* entry.
- 5. In the right panel, select the *Set Application Pool Defaults* entry.
- 6. In the dialog under Process Model, edit the Idle Time-out. Enter a value such as 480 minutes.

**NOTE:** The "minutes" value entered will set the amount of time during which the CattraxWeb application will not be unloaded by IIS if no user command is received, such as changing which page is displayed, entering data, or making a switch. Using the example of 480 minutes will set the Idle Time-out at 8 hours.

- 7. Scroll down to the *Recycling* entry.
- 8. Under *Regular Time Interval*, set the value to zero (0).
- 9. Click the "..." item in the right side of the *Specific Times* entry.
- 10. Click *Add* in the dialog.
- 11. Enter a specific time of day, such as 01:00:00 for 1 AM. Select a time of day which is low demand.
- 12. Click *OK* to accept the time value entered.



- 13 Click *OK* to close the dialog.
- 14. Restart IIS to activate settings.

#### 3.6.4 CONFIGURE WINDOWS FIREWALL (WINDOWS SERVER 2012 AND SERVER 2012 R2)

Use this procedure if you are using the Windows Firewall in Windows Server 2012 and Server 2012 R2 in the Cattrax Web host server:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, run Windows Firewall with Advanced Security.
- 2. In the left panel, click Inbound Rules.
- 3. In the right panel, click New Rule.
- 4. In Rule Type window, select Port and click Next.
- 5. In the Program window, select All Programs and click Next.
- 6. In *Protocol and Ports*, select *TCP and Specified local ports*, and set the port value to 80 and click Next.
- 7. In Action, select Allow the Connection and click Next.
- 8. In *Profile*, select all items (or as appropriate based on who would have access to Cattrax Web) and click Next.
- 9. In *Name*, give this rule a name and optionally a description and click on Finish. A good name to use is "HTTP".
- 10. Repeat steps 1 thru 9 above using a port value of 443 and the name "HTTPS".



It is also possible to turn off the firewall completely but NOT RECOMMENDED.

#### 3.6.5 CONFIGURING IIS TO USE LDAP (WINDOWS SERVER 2012 AND SERVER 2012 R2)

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site.
- 3. In the middle panel, open Authentication under Security.
- 4. Set Windows Authentication to Disabled.
- 5. If Forms Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 6. If Anonymous Authentication is listed, set it to Enabled.
- 7. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site -> NTLM.
- 8. In the middle panel, open Authentication under Security.
- 9. Set Windows Authentication to Enabled.
- 10. If Forms Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 11. If Anonymous Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 12. Exit IIS Manager.



#### 3.6.6 CONFIGURE IIS FOR SECURE CONNECTIONS (WINDOWS SERVER 2012 AND SERVER 2012 R2)

By default, IIS accepts only non-secure connections (http protocol). IIS can be configured to accept secure connections (https protocol) using Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) in addition to non-secure connections. IIS can also be configured to accept only secure connections.

In addition to configuration IIS, the web server will also need a certificate. If you do not have a certificate, one will need to be created. You can either create a self-signed certificate or obtain a certificate from a recognized Certificate Authority (CA). For information on how to create a self-signed certificate, go to <a href="http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bfsktky3(v=vs.90).aspx">http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bfsktky3(v=vs.90).aspx</a>. For information about how to obtain a certificate from a certificate from a recognized Certificate Authority (CA), contact your administrator.

Configure Windows Server 2012 and Server 2012 R2 IIS to Accept Secure Connections as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Select the Cattrax Web website in the left panel. Unless a custom directory was selected during the installation, it will be "Default Web Site".
- 3. Right click on the tree node and select "Edit Bindings".
- 4. Click the "Add..." button.
- 5. Select "https" in the "Type:" drop-down list.
- 6. Select your SSL certificate in the "SSL certificate:" drop-down list.
- 7. Leave the other values text boxes unchanged unless given different values by your administrator.
- 8. Click the "OK" button to close the "Add Site Binding" dialog box.
- 9. Click the "Close" button to close the "Site Bindings" dialog box.

#### To also disable non-secure connections, continue with these steps:

- 10. Ensure the website node is still selected in the left panel.
- 11. Double click the "SSL Settings" item.
- 12. Check the "Require SSL" checkbox.

For more information on enabling secure connections in Windows Server 2012 and Server 2012 R2, refer to <a href="http://www.iis.net/learn/manage/configuring-security/how-to-set-up-ssl-on-iis">http://www.iis.net/learn/manage/configuring-security/how-to-set-up-ssl-on-iis</a>.

#### 3.6.7 TEST CATTRAX WEB OPERATION

Upon completion of installation, test Cattrax Web operation in accordance with paragraph 3.9.

#### 3.7 CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION STEPS FOR MICROSOFT WINDOWS SERVER 2016



An active connection to the internet may be required for completion of the installation steps in the following paragraphs. If the PC or server device on which you are installing Cattrax Web will be used in a facility where internet access is not available, PESA recommends that you complete and test installation of the software before installing the device in the secure area.



#### 3.7.1 INSTALL CATTRAX WEB APPLICATION (WINDOWS SERVER 2016)

- 1. Login with Administrator privilege to the server on which you wish to install Cattrax Web.
- 2. Start the Server Manager.
- 3. Click Add Roles and Features.
- 4. On Before You Begin, click Next.
- 5. On Installation Type, select the correct choice for your system and click Next.
- 6. On Server Selection, select the correct choice for your system and click Next.
- 7. On Server Roles, select Web Server (IIS).
- 8. If a Dialog appears asking permission to install additional features, check the box "Include management tools" and then click "Add Features"; otherwise, proceed to Step 9.
- 9. Click Next.
- 10. On Features, check the box ".NET Framework 3.5 Features".
- 11. Expand .NET Framework 3.5 Features.
- 12. Check the box to enable HTTP Activation.
- 13. If a Dialog appears asking permission to install additional features, check the box "Include management tools" and then click "Add Features"; otherwise, proceed to Step 14.
- 14. Expand .NET Framework 4.6 Features, expand WCF Services, and check to enable HTTP Activation.
- 15. If a Dialog appears asking permission to install additional features, check the box "Include management tools" and then click "Add Features"; otherwise, proceed to Step 16
- 16. Click Next.
- 17. On Web Server Role (IIS), click Next.
- 18. In the left panel, select Role Services, expand Web Server, and expand Security.
- 19. Check Basic Authentication.
- 20. Check Windows Authentication.
- 21. Click "Next".
- 22. On confirmation, click Install.
- 23. When finished, click "Close".
- 24. Click Add Roles and Features.
- 25. On Before You Begin, click Next.
- 26. On Installation Type, select the correct choice for your system and click Next.
- 27. On Server Selection, select the correct choice for your system and click Next.
- 28. On Server Roles, expand Web Server (IIS), expand Web Server, expand Application Development, and check the box to enable ASP.NET 3.5.
- 29. Click Next.
- 30. On Features, click Next.



- 31. On confirmation, click Install.
- 32. When finished, click "Close".
- 33. Exit Server Manager.
- 34. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 35. In the left panel, expand the local computer name.
- 36. Click the Application Pools entry.
- 37. In the middle panel, Application Pools, select the DefaultAppPool entry.
- 38. In the right panel under Edit Application Pool, click Advanced Settings.
- 39. In the dialog, ensure that General -> Enable 32-Bit Applications is set to True.
- 40. Scroll down to Recycling -> Specific Times.
- 41. Click the ... item to the right of TimeSpan[] Array.
- 42. If a textbox is not displayed in the left column, click Add.
- 43. Enter a specific time of day, such as 01:00:00 for 1 AM in the field next to Value. Select a time of day which is low demand.
- 44. Click OK to accept the time value entered.
- 45. Click OK to close the Advanced Field Settings dialog.
- 46. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site.
- 47. In the right panel under Actions, click Basic Settings.
- 48. Ensure that "%SystemDrive%\intepub\wwwroot" or "C:\intepub\wwwroot" is in the text box Physical path.
- 49. Ensure that the Application Pool is set to DefaultAppPool.
- 50. Click OK to close the Edit Site dialog.
- 51. Exit IIS Manager.
- 52. Insert the Cattrax Web installation disk.
- 53. Run *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe*, click *Next* when prompted. On the *Choose Components* page, leave all boxes checked unless instructed otherwise by PESA Customer Service. Select *Install* to continue with installation.

### While running the Prerequisites installation disk, if the installer application requests a restart of the computer, follow these guidelines:

- Respond "Yes" to allow the computer to reboot if the installer asks permission.
- Run the *Cattrax Web Prerequisites Setup.exe* file again after any reboots. This ensures all prerequisites are installed.
- 54. Click "Finish" to complete installation of Prerequisites.
- 55. Run *Cattrax Web x.x.x Setup.exe*, click *Next* at the initial prompt. You will be asked to read and agree to the terms of the Cattrax Web software license. Click *"I Agree"* to continue with installation.



- 56. On the *Choose Components* page, leave all three boxes checked unless instructed otherwise by PESA Customer Service. Click "*Next*" to continue to the "*Choose Installation Location*" prompt.
- 57. Use of the default install location is recommended; however, you may change the default location in the "Choose Install Location" page of the wizard. Be aware, that choosing a location that is outside the wwwroot directory might interfere with access to the Cattrax Web website. Click "*Install*" to begin the installation process.
- 58. If an error is reported on "Accumulated Updates" or "database update", repeat Steps 55 and 56, above.
- 59. If a prompt is displayed requesting a restart of Cattrax Web if it is running, click OK.
- 60. A progress bar allows you verify installation. Upon completion, you will be prompted to click *"Finish"* to complete the installation process.
- 61. Under Administrative Tools, open Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 62. In the left panel, expand the local computer name, expand Sites.
- 63. Double click Sites -> Default Web Site.
- 64. Double click the CSS directory.
- 65. Right click the Images directory and select "Edit Permissions ... ".
- 66. Select the Security tab.
- 67. Click Edit.
- 68. Select ASP.NET Machine Account. If that entry is not listed, select "IIS USERS".
- 69. Click the Write check box in the Allow column.
- 70. Click OK.
- 71. Click OK to close the *Edit* dialog.
- 72. Click OK to close the Properties dialog.

#### On 64-bit systems, you will need to configure IIS to run 32-bit applications, as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Expand the first node on the *Connections* panel and click *Application Pools*.
- 3. Right-click *DefaultAppPool*, select Advanced Settings, and change *Enable 32-Bit Applications* to *True*, if that option is not already selected.
- 4. Click OK.

#### 3.7.2 CUSTOM DIRECTORY (WINDOWS SERVER 2016)

The default installation directory is: c:\InetPub\wwwroot. Use of this directory is recommended.

A custom installation directory may also be selected. For example: c:\MySites\CattraxWeb. This should be used if another website is already installed in the root directory.

After changing the default directory, configure a virtual directory as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site.



- 3. In the right panel under Actions, click Basic Settings.
- 4. Enter the path you want to use in the text box Physical path.
- 5. Click OK to close the Edit Site dialog.
- 6. Exit IIS Manager.

#### 3.7.3 SETTING THE IIS RECYCLING TIME AND IDLE TIMEOUT (WINDOWS SERVER 2016)

In order to set the recycling time through Windows Server 2016 use the following procedure:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. On the left side of the window under "Connections", expand the local computer name.
- 3. Click the *Application Pools* entry.
- 4. In the middle panel, Application Pools, select the *DefaultAppPool* entry.
- 5. In the right panel, select the Set Application Pool Defaults entry.
- 6. In the dialog under Process Model, edit the Idle Time-out. Enter a value such as 480 minutes.

**NOTE:** The "minutes" value entered will set the amount of time during which the CattraxWeb application will not be unloaded by IIS if no user command is received, such as changing which page is displayed, entering data, or making a switch. Using the example of 480 minutes will set the Idle Time-out at 8 hours.

- 7. Scroll down to the *Recycling* entry.
- 8. Under *Regular Time Interval*, set the value to zero (0).
- 9. Click the "..." item in the right side of the *Specific Times* entry.
- 10. Click Add in the dialog.
- 11. Enter a specific time of day, such as 01:00:00 for 1 AM. Select a time of day which is low demand.
- 12. Click *OK* to accept the time value entered.
- 13 Click *OK* to close the dialog.
- 14. Reboot the server to activate settings.

#### 3.7.4 CONFIGURE WINDOWS FIREWALL (WINDOWS SERVER 2016)

Use this procedure if you are using the Windows Firewall in Windows Server 2016 in the Cattrax Web host server:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, run Windows Firewall with Advanced Security.
- 2. In the left panel, click Inbound Rules.
- 3. In the right panel, click *New Rule*.
- 4. In *Rule Type* window, select *Port* and click Next.
- 5. In the *Program* window, select *All Programs* and click Next.
- 6. In *Protocol and Ports*, select *TCP and Specified local ports*, and set the port value to 80 and click Next.



- 7. In Action, select Allow the Connection and click Next.
- 8. In *Profile*, select all items (or as appropriate based on who would have access to Cattrax Web) and click Next.
- 9. In *Name*, give this rule a name and optionally a description and click on Finish. A good name to use is "HTTP".
- 10. Repeat steps 1 thru 9 above using a port value of 443 and the name "HTTPS".



It is also possible to turn off the firewall completely but NOT RECOMMENDED.

#### 3.7.5 CONFIGURING IIS TO USE LDAP (WINDOWS SERVER 2016)

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site.
- 3. In the middle panel, open Authentication under Security.
- 4. Set Windows Authentication to Disabled.
- 5. If Forms Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 6. If Anonymous Authentication is listed, set it to Enabled.
- 7. In the left panel, select Sites -> Default Web Site -> NTLM.
- 8. In the middle panel, open Authentication under Security.
- 9. Set Windows Authentication to Enabled.
- 10. If Forms Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 11. If Anonymous Authentication is listed, set it to Disabled.
- 12. Exit IIS Manager.

#### 3.7.6 CONFIGURE IIS FOR SECURE CONNECTIONS (WINDOWS SERVER 2016)

By default, IIS accepts only non-secure connections (http protocol). IIS can be configured to accept secure connections (https protocol) using Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) in addition to non-secure connections. IIS can also be configured to accept only secure connections.

In addition to configuration IIS, the web server will also need a certificate. If you do not have a certificate, one will need to be created. You can either create a self-signed certificate or obtain a certificate from a recognized Certificate Authority (CA). For information on how to create a self-signed certificate, go to <a href="http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bfsktky3(v=vs.90).aspx">http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bfsktky3(v=vs.90).aspx</a>. For information about how to obtain a certificate from a certificate from a recognized Certificate Authority (CA), contact your administrator.

Configure Windows Server 2016 IIS to Accept Secure Connections as follows:

- 1. Under Administrative Tools, start Internet Information Services (IIS).
- 2. Select the Cattrax Web website in the left panel. Unless a custom directory was selected during the installation, it will be "Default Web Site".



- 3. Right click on the tree node and select "Edit Bindings".
- 4. Click the "Add..." button.
- 5. Select "https" in the "Type:" drop-down list.
- 6. Select your SSL certificate in the "SSL certificate:" drop-down list.
- 7. Leave the other values text boxes unchanged unless given different values by your administrator.
- 8. Click the "OK" button to close the "Add Site Binding" dialog box.
- 9. Click the "Close" button to close the "Site Bindings" dialog box.

#### To also disable non-secure connections, continue with these steps:

- 10. Ensure the website node is still selected in the left panel.
- 11. Double click the "SSL Settings" item.
- 12. Check the "Require SSL" checkbox.

For more information on enabling secure connections in Windows Server 2016, refer to <u>http://www.iis.net/learn/manage/configuring-security/how-to-set-up-ssl-on-iis</u>.

#### 3.7.7 TEST CATTRAX WEB OPERATION

Upon completion of installation, test Cattrax Web operation in accordance with paragraph 3.9.

# 3.8 How to move a Cattrax Web database from a computer with SQL Server 2008R2 (Windows XP/7/10) to a computer with SQL Server 2014 (Windows Server 2012 and Later).

#### On the computer you are moving the database from:

- 1. Backup the database on the CattraxWeb as described in section 5.15.
- 2. Copy the database backup file from the database backup directory (probably *C:\ProgramData\PESA\Cattrax Web\DatabaseBackup*).

#### On the computer you are moving the database to:

- 1. Put the copied database backup file (database1.2.3.bak in this example) in the database backup directory, probably *C:\ProgramData\PESA\Cattrax Web\DatabaseBackup*.
- 2. Edit the file *C:\inetpub\wwwroot\Help\CopyToSQL2014.template*. Change the database path and filename in line 4 to the actual path and filename for your database file. If the path to MSSQL12 is different on your system, change that also. Save the file as *CopyToSQL2014.sql* in the database backup directory, probably *C:\ProgramData\PESA\Cattrax Web\DatabaseBackup*.
- 3. Open a command prompt window.
- 4. Go to the database backup directory, probably 'C:\ProgramData\PESA\Cattrax Web\DatabaseBackup.
- 5. Execute the command below:

sqlcmd -S.\SQLPESA -i "CopyToSQL2014.sql"



- 6. Execute the command below. If the path to MSSQL12 is different, change that. If there is an error, try the command again:
  - *C:\Program Files (x86)\Microsoft SQLServer\MSSQL12.SQLPESA\MSSQL\DATA\accumulatedUpdates.sql*
- 7. Execute the command below:

iisreset /restart

#### 3.9 TESTING CATTRAX WEB INSTALLATION

After installation of Cattrax Web is complete, open an internet browser such as Mozilla Firefox, or Google Chrome and connect to the Cattrax Web URL as follows:

- To connect from a browser running on the Cattrax Web server computer, if you allowed Cattrax Web to install in the default root directory use URL <u>http://<Server IP Address></u> to connect to Cattrax Web from the internet browser. For example: <u>http://192.168.20.123</u>, or simply <u>http://localhost</u>.
- To connect from a browser running on the Cattrax Web server computer, if you installed Cattrax Web in a custom root directory use URL <a href="http://serverIPAddress>/CattraxWeb">http://serverIPAddress>/CattraxWeb</a> to connect to Cattrax Web from the internet browser. For example: <a href="http://iocalhost/CattraxWeb">http://iocalhost/CattraxWeb</a>. This example assumes a custom directory named "CattraxWeb" was used for application installation. If you used any other custom name enter the actual directory name in the URL in place of CattraxWeb.
- To connect from a browser running on a computer different from the Cattrax Web server computer, if you allowed Cattrax Web to install in the default root directory enter the URL as the IP address of the computer hosting the Cattrax Web application, as shown here: <a href="http://serverIPAddress">http://serverIPAddress</a>.
- To connect from a browser running on a computer different from the Cattrax Web server computer, if you installed Cattrax Web in a custom root directory enter the URL as shown here: <u>http://<Server IP</u> <u>Address>/CattraxWeb</u>. This example assumes a custom directory named "CattraxWeb" was used for application installation. If you used any other custom name enter the actual directory name in the URL in place of CattraxWeb.

The Cattrax Web login page should be shown.

If Cattrax Web does not respond, you need to ensure that the network Firewall in the computer on which Cattrax Web is installed, allows the http:// requests to pass through. The configuration of the firewall depends on the firewall hardware or software in use. Refer to paragraph 3.4.4, as applicable to your server operating system.

#### 3.10 CONFIGURING THE FIREFOX BROWSER TO USE LDAP

When using LDAP login options, the Mozilla Firefox browser will prompt for a login box. To prevent this, make the following settings:

- 1. Go to **about:config.**
- 2. Set network.automatic-ntlm-auth.allow-non-fqdn to true.


# 3.11 CATTRAX WEB APPLICATION – UNINSTALL

The *Cattrax Web x.x.x Setup.exe* program will prompt you to uninstall the previous version if it detects a version of Cattrax Web already installed. It is not mandatory to uninstall the previous version; however, it is recommended that you do.



Uninstall only removes some of the Cattrax Web application files from the c:\inetpub\bin directory. It does not uninstall the database server, the Cattrax Web database, any backed up database files and log files, or the SMTP mail settings.



# **Chapter 4 Initial Login and Setup**

# 4.1 INITIAL LOGIN AND LICENSE ACTIVATION

With the Cattrax Web server application installed and running on the host computer, initial steps to prepare for operation are to login to Cattrax Web using the pre-configured, default *Admin* user account, activate the software license, change password and security question of the default user account, and (recommended, but not required) create a new administrator level user account to use for common and routine administrative functions.

The procedures in this chapter should only be required at initial setup of the Cattrax Web application. Refer to Chapter 5 for normal operating procedures.

Start your web browser application and enter the URL of the Cattrax Web server to access the login page, as shown by Figure 4-1.

cattrax	
6	User ID
	Password
	Login with LDAP Login
	Login with Active Directory For login help email admin@localhost

Figure 4-1 Cattrax Web Login Page

For the initial login you must use the factory default login credentials: User ID is *admin* and default Password is *admin\*101*. Enter these credentials and click the *Login* button to login to Cattrax Web.

You must activate the software license before any functions of Cattrax Web are accessible or operational. If this is the first time the application has been accessed following installation, the program opens to the Software License activation page, Figure 4-2. Follow the procedures in paragraph 4-2 to install the license and activate Cattrax Web.

# 4.2 ACTIVATE SOFTWARE LICENSE KEY

Activation of the Software License Key opens access to operational features of Cattrax Web, and also configures the number of simultaneous users that may be logged in to the application. Until the software license is activated, Cattrax Web opens by default to the Software License activation page, Figure 4-2, at login.



An activation key provided by PESA is required for initial setup, and may be a system-specific key or a test key. A test key is for evaluation of the Cattrax Web application and expires after a specified number of days. Both keys are activated by the following procedure:

rier coniguration / Dackup an	n Vestore   License /
Software Li	cense
License Activation Status	Active
Maximum Concurrent Users	10
Current Users	2
Computer Name	NEWTON
CPUID	BFEBFBFF000206A700000000000000000
Activation Mode	Online. Manual
Activation Key	ANQMOV0Z00G1HJKM8P1R5D19HPDK5UTNJ4
Computer Key	UNDCONOMOOG1HUKM8P165I1WW5R9H6A4D4
	Activate

Figure 4-2 License Activation Page

1. The *Maximum Concurrent Users* displayed in a license defines the number of simultaneous user <u>sessions</u> allowed. It is possible to add any number of users to the Users List page.
 2. If the same user logs in from two different browsers Cattrax Web considers this to be two simultaneous sessions.
 3. When a user logs out, current simultaneous user count is decremented

3. When a user logs out, current simultaneous user count is decremented immediately. If the user doesn't log out, the current user count is decremented after user inactivity timeout. Inactivity timeout may be set from the Server Configuration page, see paragraph 5.13.

# 4.2.1 ONLINE ACTIVATION

- If the server (host computer) on which Cattrax Web is installed has access to the internet, select the *Online* Activation Mode.
- Enter the Activation Key (provided by PESA) in the Activation Key window and click the *Activate* button.
- Cattrax Web communicates with PESA's License Server over the internet connection and registers the CPU ID and Name of your host computer against the activation key and immediately obtains a Computer Key from PESA.



- If activation is successful, the computer key character string is displayed along with the maximum number of simultaneous sessions allowed by this key.
- Upon completion of activation, the message *Valid Key(s)* is displayed in the lower left area of the Key Activation window. Once this message appears, Cattrax Web is fully functional.
- When you have completed the licensing process, you will be logged into Cattrax Web through the default *Admin* user account. Click the **Home** tab at the top of the license page to access the **Setup** home page.
- Although this step is not a requirement for operation of the application, for security reasons PESA recommends changing the password of the *Admin* user account before you perform any other function with Cattrax Web. Refer to paragraph 4.3.
- PESA also recommends that while you are logged in through the *Admin* user account, you create a new Administrator level User ID and Password for day-to-day administrative use. Refer to paragraph 4.4.



If online activation of a *test key* fails you will still be able to the use the number of sessions allowed by the key.

## 4.2.2 MANUAL (OFFLINE) ACTIVATION

- If access to the internet is not available, select the *Manual* Activation Mode.
- Make a notation of the Computer Name and CPU ID character string as displayed on the License Activation page.
- Send the name and ID number to PESA. You may use Email, or contact PESA Customer Service by phone to obtain your activation information.
- PESA will issue to you a Computer Key character string.
- Once you have received the Computer Key, enter both the Activation Key that you received with Cattrax Web AND the Computer Key issued to you by PESA in the appropriate data entry fields on the License Activation page, and click the *Activate* button.
- If activation is successful, the computer key character string is displayed along with the maximum number of simultaneous sessions allowed by this key.
- Upon completion of activation, the message *Valid Key(s)* is displayed in the lower left area of the Key Activation window. Once this message appears, Cattrax Web is fully functional.
- When you have completed the licensing process, you will be logged into Cattrax Web through the default *Admin* user account. Click the **Home** tab at the top of the license page to access the **Setup** home page.
- Although this step is not a requirement for operation of the application, for security reasons PESA recommends changing the password of the *Admin* user account before you perform any other function with Cattrax Web. Refer to paragraph 4.3.
- PESA also recommends that while you are logged in through the *Admin* user account, you create a new Administrator level User ID and Password for day-to-day administrative use. Refer to paragraph 4.4.



## 4.3 CHANGE THE PASSWORD AND SECURITY QUESTION OF THE ADMIN USER ACCOUNT

PESA recommends for added security that during initial setup you change the password of the *Admin* user account from the default *admin\*101* to a password that is unique for your installation. It is also recommended that you change the security question and answer for the account as well.



User ID *Admin* cannot be removed from the system through the User List page. The privilege level of *Admin* is permanently set to administrator and cannot be changed.

All administrative and setup functions of Cattrax Web are done through pages available from the Setup home page. An example page is shown by Figure 4-3.



Figure 4-3 Cattrax Web Setup Home Page

Change the password of the Admin user account as follows:

• Click on the **Profile** icon located in the left column of the home page. You can also access the User Profile page at any time by clicking the User ID display in the top right corner of the page. In Figure 4-3, the User ID is shown as *Demo User*. An example User Profile page is shown by Figure 4-4.



Demo_User				
Email:	demo@pese co	m		
First Name	Demo			
Last Name:	User			
Password (change password)				
Security Question: (change security question)	My Real Name			
Startup Mode:	Setup	•		
Startup Workspace:	Demo W5 2	•		
Theme	Light	•		
Creation Date:	2014-06-06 13:10	k14Z		
Last Activity Date:	2014-05-18 13:44	105Z		
Last Login Date:	2014-06-18 13:43	1:59Z		

Figure 4-4 User Profile Page

• Click the <i>Change Password</i> link to	Change Password
open the Change Password dialog	
box as shown here. Enter the default	Password:
password ( <i>admin*101</i> ) and then	New Password-
enter the new password you wish to	
create for the Admin user account.	Confirm New Password:
Confirm the new password and	
click the Change Password button.	Change Password Cancel

- All passwords must be at least 7 characters long with at least one non-alphanumeric character.
- Click the *Change Security Question* link to open the Change Security Question dialog box as shown here. Enter the new password you just created for the Admin account. Enter the new security question you wish to create and enter the answer to the question in the appropriate fields. Click *Save* to complete the change process.
- Store the newly created password and security answer for User ID *Admin* in a safe place.

Password:	
New Security	1
Question:	
New Security Answer:	





Make a notation of the *Admin* user password and security answer, and store them in a safe location. If the password or security answer is lost, the only way to reset it would be by deleting the Admin account from the database and restarting the web application. Do not attempt to alter the database without assistance from PESA service personnel, Contact PESA Customer Service if you ever need to delete the Admin account from the database.

# 4.4 CREATE A NEW USER ACCOUNT WITH ADMINISTRATOR PRIVILEGE

Although not a requirement for system operation, PESA recommends that while logged in through the factory default *Admin* user account, you create a new administrative user account for use as a top level system administrator account for Cattrax Web operations. Once the new account is created, log in to Cattrax Web with the newly created User ID and Password and use this account for initial system setup, routine maintenance and administrative operations, rather than using the default *Admin* account. Create the new user account as follows:

• Return to the Setup home page, Figure 4-3 and click the User List icon (left column) to open the User List page as shown by Figure 4-5.

ser List	L Osers	Hardwar	e 🔪 🔊 Workspaces 🛝 🔤 Server 🛝	2 Loga					
2	User List								
UserID	Privilege	First Name	Last Active Directory LDAP Name	ADILDAP Enal Only Enal	bled (	Online Locked		User Details	1
1	AD +	1	T	Al + Al	•	Al • Al •		User ID	Admin
Admin	Administrator	Mr	Admin		6	*	×	Privilege:	Administrator
Demo Use	r Administrator	Demo	User		1	4	×	Name:	Mt. Admin
Staff User	Staff	Staff	User	~	/		×	Email	N.
								Active Directory	
								LDAP	
								Disable Password	
								Telephone Number	72
								Locked Out:	
								Online	-
								Enabled:	
								Last Login Date:	6/5/2018 3:56:03 P
								East Activity Date	6/5/2018 5:09.46 P
								A/C Crestion Date	5/1/2014 2:27:13 P
								Password Question	: Our Planet?
								Comment.	

Figure 4-5 User List Page



- Click the *Add User* button to access the **Add New User** dialog box as shown below.
- Enter the User ID as you want it to appear in the User List, a first and last name for the new administrator account, and an Email address. For this example, we have created the User ID **Demo User**.

Add New User		
User ID:	Demo User	
Privilege:	Staff	
First Name:	Demo	
Last Name:	User	
Email:	demo@pesa.com	
Active Directory:	No user selected.	•
LDAP:	Unable to retrieve user data.	्र
Phone Number:		
AD/LDAP Only:		
Password:		
Password Question:	my name	
Password Answer:	demo	
Enabled:		
Comment:		
Send email to new use	er. 🗹	
<u>Save</u> <u>Cancel</u>		

• Select the Admin access privilege level for this user from the *Privilege* drop-down list.



• As an optionally available feature, Cattrax Web supports user login with externally authenticated domain login credentials through either Active Directory or an LDAP server, if these network services are available on your facility's IT infrastructure. In order to use either of these login methods, you must first configure Cattrax Web to interface with these services through settings that you will enter on the Server Configuration page of the application during system set-up.

Leave both the *Active Directory* and *LDAP* fields blank for now. If you would like to allow login to the new administrator account through either (or both) of these methods, you may edit the user page for this account once set-up of alternate login methods is complete and the services are operational. Refer to paragraph 2.2 for more information on using the alternative login methods.



- Enter a phone number for the new administrator account, if desired (optional).
- Be sure that the *AD/LDAP Only* box is **not** checked for now. If upon completion of system configuration, you would like to restrict login to the new administrator account to either (or both) of these methods, you may edit the user page for this account once set-up of alternate login methods is complete and the services are operational. Refer to paragraph 2.2 for more information on using the alternative login methods.



When checked, the *AD/LDAP Only* checkbox restricts the user to only log in to Cattrax Web through Active Directory or LDAP network server login methods. Placing a check in this box disables the Login Page option of entering applicationspecific user ID and password credentials assigned to the user at the time of account creation or through subsequent user account changes to access Cattrax Web. Refer to paragraph 2.2 for more information on alternate login methods.

- Provide a password for the new administrative account and a password challenge question. You may use any question and answer you wish for password retrieval.
- Click the *Enabled* box to enable the user account you are creating and allow the user to login.
- *Comment* is a free text area where you may make any notes you wish. An entry in this area is not required to create a user account.
- If you would like to have Cattrax Web send a notification email to the new user, click the *Send email to new user* box.
- Click *Save* to create and add the new account to the user list.
- Logout from the *Admin* user account, using the *Logout* button at the top right corner of the screen, and login to Cattrax Web again as the new administrator level user you just created.
- When you have completed all initial licensing and setup procedures, continue to Chapter 5 for normal operating procedures.



# **Chapter 5 Operation**

# 5.1 INTRODUCTION

In order to control access to various setup and configuration operations of the application, Cattrax Web functions in two essentially distinct operational areas, **Setup** and **Switching:** 

- Setup functions allow users with administrative privilege to configure all aspects of application operation including users, router control and access, server functions and the creation of system operation and history logs.
- **Switching** functions are available to authorized users of all privilege levels and provide status display and control for the router, or partition of the router, granted to the individual user accessing the server.

All authorized users access router control through the Switching operational area of Cattrax Web. The Switching page identifies one or more *workspace* instances to which the specific logged-in user has been granted access. Workspace instances are created by system administrators or supervisors to very specifically assign and control router access to individual users or user groups.

Individual users may be assigned to one of three privilege levels that determine the functions of Cattrax Web they can access and control:

- **Staff** Staff level users are granted access to only the Switching user interface pages and functions. When a Staff level user logs in to Cattrax Web the application opens immediately to the Switching page.
- **Supervisor** Supervisor level users are granted access to both the Switching and Setup functional areas of Cattrax Web, with the exception of the server configuration pages. Following hierarchy, a Supervisor level user cannot:
  - Create a new Administrator level user account,
  - Grant Administrator level access to a new or existing user account, or
  - Edit the account or change access privilege of any user with Administrator privilege.
- Administrator Administrator level users are granted access to all pages and functions of Cattrax Web.



Throughout this text, the term "*administrative user*" is used to differentiate both Supervisor and Administrator level users from Staff level users. When used in a procedural step, an administrative user is any user with system access privileges needed to perform the administrative control or setup functions required for the operation being discussed.

Each operational area is discussed in the following paragraphs. Regardless of privilege level, all users open the application through the Login page.



# 5.2 LOGIN TO CATTRAX WEB

Start your web browser application and enter the URL of the Cattrax Web server to access the login page, as shown by Figure 5-1.

14 <u>-</u> 24	
UserID	
Password	
Login with LDAP Login	
or	

Figure 5-1 Cattrax Web Login Page

Enter your User ID and Password, and click the Login button.

# 5.3 LANDING PAGE

The privilege level of the user logging in to Cattrax Web determines the initial landing page the user will see.

If you log in with a user ID assigned a privilege level of Supervisor or Administrator, Cattrax Web will automatically open to the **Setup** home page. Refer to paragraph 5.4

Staff level users do not have access to the Setup operational pages, and for these users Cattrax Web will automatically open to the **Switching** home page. Refer to paragraph 5.18.

Regardless of which landing page is open, there are three user controls at the top-right of the page as shown by the example illustration at right.

**Username** – The User ID of the currently logged-in user is shown underlined. Click the username display to quickly access the individual profile page for that user. You may

admin	Setup 👻	Logout
	Setup	23
	Switching	

make any changes you wish to the user profile information from the profile page.

**Operational Area Select** – The pull-down list allows you to easily move between the **Setup** home page and the **Switching** home page. Open the pull-down list and select the page you wish to access. The **Setup** page selection is not available to Staff level users.

**Logout** – Click the logout button to log the current user out of Cattrax Web. The application will open to the Login page and allow another user to log in to the application, if desired. Anytime a user logs out of the application, the simultaneous sessions count will be decremented by one.



# 5.4 SETUP HOME PAGE

System configuration and setup functions available to the user are listed in columns on the Setup home page and also identified by icons, as shown by Figure 5-2. Click any function header or icon on the page to open its associated control or configuration page.

A user assigned the privilege level of Administrator can access any functional area of Cattrax Web and perform any system operation or command.

Users assigned the privilege level of Supervisor can perform most of the same control functions as an Administrator. A supervisor level user may not access or change the network configuration of Cattrax Web, make any changes to the server operating parameters, assign a user administrator privileges or modify the status of an administrator level user.

Control functions available through the Setup home page are discussed in the following paragraphs.



Icons and menu tab enclosed by dotted lines are not displayed on the Setup home page of a Supervisor level user

Figure 5-2 Setup Home Page



Tabs across the top of the main display area, as shown below, allow quick access to user interface pages for the various control functions.



There is also a row of sub-tabs for Users, Hardware, and Server tabs that give access to various pages under each category.

## 5.5 CONFIGURE DEVICE NETWORK (ADMINISTRATOR LEVEL USER)

Before any router control functions or communication with the system controller can be implemented, Cattrax Web requires configuration of the device network in order to allow the application to "discover" the presence of PESA devices on the network. Configure device network information as follows:

• From the Setup home page, Figure 5-2, click the *Server Configuration* icon (left column) to open the Server Configuration page as shown by Figure 5-3.

	Server Configuration			
Subnet	Information	Administrative Email Con	nmunication Setup	
	Subnet Broadcast Address	RAllow administrative em	ail communication	
1	192168.3.255 🗙	Email Server Address		
		Usemame:		
		Password:		
Add Si	enet G Refresh List	Fram:		
Display	Ontions	Port:		
	opuolis	Enable SSL		
E Show	v icons for Source/Dest/Salvos	Test Email	Save Ottangera	
Change the word "Switching" to "Routing"     Display system announcement in header     Display contemportation forther		Security Settings		
Denuts in the breakroom		Users timed out after 480	minutes of inactivity.	
		Allow users to change p	bassword	
Castom	ann (ann inn ar ineo 500m V 55m)	Allow users to create a	n account at login	
- and and	Select	LDAP (Lightweight Direct	tory Access Protocol)	
Index	Besteen Ootbuild opp	Show button to login w	th LDAP using name/passwo	
opioa	T   resider Dentil Cugo	LDAP - Friendly Name:	LDAP	
Genera	il Settings	RAllow users to login wit	h LDAP using NTLM	
Themie:	Light +	NTLM - Friendly Name	Artive Directory	
Update	Interval: [1 •] second(s)	CONVERSION OF A	Levels would book	
Log Lev	et Debug -	Server.	Iocaenost 10389	
Contac	t information on Login Page	Fitter.	memberOf=CN=Software Er	
Contact	Email admin@localhost	Format - Display	[rev.01.00m±00.	
Contact	Phone:	Format-Login:	uidaluseridi ouzevstem	
Error N	lessages Mode	Format - User ID:	(uid 0)	
Error Mo	de Aways • Eine Mude Churge	User - Name:	[	
		User - Password:		
		Liser-Domain	-	

Figure 5-3 Server Configuration Page



Cattrax Web should automatically discover the active network interface device of the host server (host PC) and automatically add the Subnet Broadcast Address to the list. This address is valid for discovering devices on the same subnet as the Cattrax Web server. If there are also PESA devices on a different subnet, the subnet broadcast address for that subnet must be manually added to the list as follows:

- Click the *Add Subnet* button to add a new subnet. A pop-up dialog box prompts you for the broadcast address of the subnet you wish to add, as shown at right.
- Enter the new address and click the *Save* button to add it to the list.
- Click *Cancel* to exit the box without any changes to the list.

	Subnet Broad	ast Address	
Subr <u>Sa</u>	iet Broadcast Addres ive <u>Cancel</u>	s:	
0	192.168.111.255	×	^
0	192.168.3.255	*	
-			M

**Recommendation:** Use the subnet broadcast address from the Network Preference settings dialog of Cattrax.

## 5.6 OVERVIEW OF ADMINISTRATIVE FUNCTIONS

Cattrax Web administrative controls and functions may be loosely divided into four categories:

1. User Configuration -	Add, edit and delete user accounts, assign user access privilege and create user groups.
2. Hardware Configuration -	Add, edit and delete virtual controllers, system resource include lists and subsystems.
3. Workspace Configuration -	Add, edit and delete workspaces; and assign users to their authorized workspace(s).
3. Server Administration -	Includes various configuration and maintenance functions of the Cattrax Web server, such as device network configuration, Email configuration, system log management, etc.

Each function is performed through interactive user interface pages. Many pages incorporate a table format to display and sort data content of the page. An example of the table display format is shown by Figure 5-4. With many of the tables, each display row will feature a pencil icon on the left edge and a *red "X"* icon on the right edge. When the data entry row is selected (highlighted), clicking the pencil icon brings up a dialog box that allows you to edit certain fields of the entry, and clicking the *red "X"* icon allows you to delete the entry.

Many of the table columns feature data search and sort capability. At the top of table columns that offer such capability, a data entry box allows you to enter the character or character string you wish to locate in the column. Clicking the filter icon next to the data entry box opens a drop-down menu listing of criteria you may use to refine your search.

You may sort the content of columns that offer sorting capability by clicking the column name header. The column header *User ID* for example, sorts the table in alphabetical order based on the entries in the User ID column. Clicking the header again, reverses the order of sorting.



- 10	Home	& Users	Hardward	Wo	nkspaces	Server	Logs	1			
Use	r List 🛛 Use	r Groups									
	<u>,</u>	lser l ist									
Ľ		JOOT LIST						-			_
	User ID	Privilege	First Name	Last Name	Active Directory	LDAP	AD/LDAP Only	Enabled	Online	Lacked	
	T	All •	T	7			Alt +	Al +	All 🔻	Ali 🔹	
	Admin	Administrator	Mir.	Admin				~	*		×
0	Demo User	Administrator	Dema	User				~	~		×
0	Staff User	Staff	Staff	User				~			×
0	Staff User	Administrator Staff	Demo Staff	User				5 5	~		

Figure 5-4 Table Display Format

## 5.7 USER CONFIGURATION

There are three main objectives of user configuration:

- 1. Manage user access to the Cattrax Web application.
- 2. Manage access level privileges assigned to each user.
- 3. Assign users to specific user groups (optional).

## 5.7.1 USER LIST PAGE

The User List page, Figure 5-5, provides information about users with a Cattrax Web account. Access the page by clicking the *User List* icon on the Setup home page, or by selecting the *Users* tab on the menu bar and clicking the sub-tab *User List*. From the User List page, administrative users may, within the authority of their access privileges, add new users, edit or delete existing user accounts, change system access privilege for a user, enable or disable user access to the application, and reset user passwords and lock-outs.

urtin Un	Iser List									
User 10	Privilege	Filet	Last Name	Active Directory LDAP	ADILONP Only	Snabled	Online Locked		User Details	8
Admen O Centra User Staff User	At •	H Demo Staf	Adres User User		AL *	All -		XXX	User D Prinlings Norre Ernel: Active Directory LDAP Disable Password Talephose Nantier Locked Out Online Ernstein Liet Login Date Liet Activity Date ArC Crustian Date Password Director	Admin Administrator Mc Admin k

Figure 5-5 User List Page



## Add or Create User Accounts

User accounts may be created by either of two possible methods:

- If the function is enabled through server configuration, a new user may request an account through the *New User Registration* link on the login page
- An administrative user may create a new user account through the User List page. A Supervisor level user can not assign a new user the level of Administrator.

Administrative users can add user accounts through the User List page by clicking the *Add User* button beneath the user table to open an empty **Add New User** dialog box, as shown below. Enter the data requested for each field, as introduced in the following steps. Check the *Enabled* box and click *Save* to create and activate the new account.

Add New User		
User ID:	Demo User	
Privilege:	Staff	
First Name:	Demo	
Last Name:	User	
Email:	demo@pesa.com	
Active Directory:	No user selected.	•
LDAP:	Unable to retrieve user data.	•
Phone Number:		
AD/LDAP Only:		
Password:		
Password Question:	my name	
Password Answer:	demo	
Enabled:		
Comment:		
Send email to new use	r. 🗹	
<u>Save</u> <u>Cancel</u>		

- Enter the User ID as you want it to appear in the User List, the first and last name of the user, and the user Email address. For this example, we are using the User ID **Demo User**.
- Select the system access privilege level you wish to allow this user from the *Privilege* drop-down list.



- If Cattrax Web is configured to support user login through either Active Directory or an LDAP server, you may associate the Cattrax Web user's account to a user ID on the facility network for login access by opening the drop-down list in the appropriate field (*Active Directory* or *LDAP*) to display a network user ID listing. Highlight the desired ID from the list and click. Refer to paragraph 2.2 for more information on alternate login methods.
- Enter a phone number for the user, if desired (optional).
- When checked, the *AD/LDAP Only* checkbox restricts the user to only log in to Cattrax Web through Active Directory or LDAP network server login methods. Placing a check in this box disables the Login Page option of entering application-specific user ID and password credentials assigned to the user at the time of account creation or through subsequent user account changes to access Cattrax Web. Refer to paragraph 2.2 for more information on alternate login methods.
- Provide a password for the user and a password challenge question. You may use any question and answer you wish for password retrieval.
- Click the *Enabled* box to enable the user account you are creating and allow the user to login.
- *Comment* is a free text area where you may make any notes you wish. An entry in this area is not required to create a user account.
- If the *Send email to new user* check box is checked, notification of the account activation and the password assigned to the user will be sent to the email address you just entered for the user.
- Click Save to create and add the new account to the user list.

When a new user account is created from the New User Registration link, the account is disabled by default, and must be enabled by an administrative user before the new user can log in to Cattrax Web. The User ID name entered by the user requesting an account appears as a new entry in the User List table, but there is no checkmark in the Enabled box for the entry.

To activate the account, an administrative user must highlight the table entry and click the pencil icon to edit the account and open the Edit User dialog box, shown at right. If the account request is accepted, check the *Enabled* square and click *Save*.

The New User Registration link is only displayed on the login page if the Email notification function of Cattrax Web and the account creation at log in function are both enabled through Server Configuration, refer to paragraph 5.13.9.

0	Demo User	Administrator	Demo	User	~	~	×
Edit	User: Demo U	ser					
Privi	lege:	Administrator	•]				
Ema	ail:	demo@pesa.	com				
Activ	e Directory:	Undefined		•			
LDA	P:	Undefined		*			
Pho	ne Number:	none					
AD/L	DAP Only:						
Ena	bled:						
Con	nment:						
Sa	ve Cancel	(					

New users are notified by Email that their account is now active.

Creation of a user account may fail due to any one of these reasons:

1. User ID is not unique - If the user ID is already used by another existing account.

2. Password is invalid – Password must be at least 7 characters long with at least one non-alphanumeric character (!, @, \*, etc.)

- 3. First and Last Name not provided.
- 4. Password retrieval security question and /or answer not provided.



#### **Reset User Password**

Lost passwords cannot be retrieved from the Cattrax Web database. The user account password must be reset and a new password issued by the Cattrax Web application; the user can then change the newly issued password after log in.

User passwords may be reset by either of two possible methods:

- If the function is enabled through server configuration, a user may request a new password through the *Forgot Your Password.*? link on the login page
- An administrative user may reset a users' password through the User List page.

Note that the *Forgot Your Password?* link is only displayed on the login page if the Email notification function of Cattrax Web and the user password reset function are both enabled through Server Configuration, refer to paragraph 5.13.9.

To reset a user password as an administrative user, highlight the User ID entry in the User List table and click the *Reset Password* button beneath the table. You will be prompted to verify the action before the new password is issued.

If the Email notification function of Cattrax Web is enabled, the user is sent their newly created password by Email.

When a user password is changed, Cattrax Web displays the newly created password to the administrative user requesting the change. This will be the only time the password is visibly displayed by Cattrax Web. You should make a notation of the password in the event the Email delivery is not successful, or for paper delivery to the user if a password is reset without Email notification enabled.

## **Edit User Dialog Box**

An administrative user can change privilege level, change contact information for a user, associate the users' account to a network user ID for Active Directory or LDAP alternate login capability, or disable a user account using functions available through the Edit User dialog box, as shown here.

Edit the account of a Cattrax Web user as follows:

• Locate the User ID of

0	Demo User	Administrator	Demo	User	~	~	×
Edit	User: Demo U	ser	25				
Privi	lege:	Administrator	•				
Ema	ail:	demo@pesa.	com				
Activ	e Directory:	Undefined		•			
LDA	P:	Undefined		•			
Pho	ne Number:	none					
AD/L	DAP Only:	250 C					
Enal	bled:	1					
Con	nment:	[					
Sa	ve <u>Cancel</u>						

the account you wish to edit from the User List and click the pencil icon to the left of the User ID entry. The Edit User dialog box opens beneath the entry row in the User List.

- You may use the drop-down list to select a new privilege level for the user. A Supervisor level user can not assign a user the level of Administrator.
- Make any changes needed to the user Email address information.



- You may associate the Cattrax Web user's account to a user ID on the facility network for login access through Active Directory or LDAP. Open the drop-down list in the *Active Directory* or *LDAP* field to display a network user ID listing, highlight the desired ID from the list and click. Refer to paragraph 2.2 for more information on alternate login methods.
- Make any changes needed to the Phone Number contact information.
- When checked, the *AD/LDAP Only* checkbox restricts the user to only log in to Cattrax Web through Active Directory or LDAP network server login methods. Placing a check in this box disables the Login Page option of entering application-specific user ID and password credentials assigned to the user at the time of account creation or through subsequent user account changes to access Cattrax Web. Refer to paragraph 2.2 for more information on alternate login methods.
- If you wish to disable the account and deny the user access to the Cattrax Web system, remove the check from the *Enabled* box.
- Make any changes needed to the Comment text.
- Click *Save* to accept the changes to the user account.
- Click *Cancel* to exit the box without any changes to the user account.

## **User Lockout**

If a user fails to login after 5 attempts within 10 minutes, Cattrax Web locks the user's account and the user will not be able to login until an administrative user unlocks it by un-checking the *Locked* checkbox in the Edit User dialog box.

To unlock an account, highlight the locked account and click the pencil icon to open the Edit User dialog box, shown below. Un-check the *Locked* square and click *Save*.

If the Email notification function of Cattrax Web is enabled, the new user is notified by Email that their account is unlocked.

NO1

🥖 Demo User	Administrator	Demo	User	~	~	×
Edit User: Demo L	Jser					
Privilege:	Administrator	•				
Email:	demo@pesa.	com				
Active Directory:	Undefined		•			
LDAP:	Undefined		•			
Phone Number:	none					
AD/LDAP Only:	ò					
Enabled:	1					
Comment:						
Locked:						
Save Cance	<u>l</u>					

1. <u>New User Registration</u> from the Login page is disabled by default, but may be enabled from the Server Configuration page.

2. Both <u>New User Registration</u> and <u>Forgot Your Password..?</u> links are disabled if the administrative Email option is not enabled through the Server Configuration page.



# 5.7.2 USER PROFILE PAGE

The User Profile page allows the currently logged in user to review, edit and customize user account information and preferences.

A user with access to the Setup home page can open the profile page by clicking the *User Profile* icon. Users of all levels can open the profile page by clicking the user name displayed in the upper right corner of every Cattrax Web page. An example User Profile page is shown by Figure 5-6.

Demo_User				
Email	demo@pesa.com	m		
First Name	Demo			
Last Name	User			
Password change password)	<del>075</del> 0			
Security Question; Ichange security question)	My Real Name			
Startup Mode:	Betup			
itartup Workspace:	Demo WB 2	•		
heme .	Light	•		
reation Date	2014-06-06 13:10	14Z		
ast Activity Date:	2014-06-18 13:44	05Z		
ast Login Date:	2014-05-18 13:43	59Z		
Rale	Admin			

Figure 5-6 User Profile Page

Through the User Profile page, individual users may enter or edit the following personal profile data:

**Email**, **First Name** and **Last Name** entries are displayed for reference, and can not be modified from this page.

## **Change Password and Security Question:**

The logged-in user may change the password or security question of the account:

• Click the <i>Change Password</i> link to open the	Change Password
dialog box as shown at right. Enter the current	Password:
account password and then enter the new	New Password.
password you wish to create. Confirm the new	Confirm New Password
password and enex the Change I assword button.	Change Password    Cancel

• All passwords must be at least 7 characters long with at least one non-alphanumeric character.



• Click the *Change Security Question* link to open the dialog box as shown here, and enter the account password. Enter the new security question you wish to use and enter the answer to the question in the appropriate fields. Click *Save* to complete the change process.

Pa	issword:		
New	Security -		1
Q	uestion:		
New Security	Answer:	 	

# **Startup Mode:**

The drop-down list allows you to select the Setup home page, the Switching page, or the Event Stack page as your landing page when you login to Cattrax Web.

## **Startup Workspace:**

This drop-down opens to a list of all workspaces to which the logged-in user is authorized access. You may choose a specific workspace to access whenever the Switching page is opened, or you may choose to have the Switching page open with the Last Used Workspace.

## Theme:

With the exception of the login page, Cattrax Web gives an individual user the option of choosing a dark or light background theme for all user pages. The choice of background theme used should be based on several possible factors, including ambient lighting conditions in the operator's environment or simply personal preference.

Choose the desired background theme from the drop-down list.

Creation Date, Last Activity Date, Last Login Date and Role of the user are provided for reference.

# 5.7.3 USER GROUPS

The User Groups page, Figure 5-7, displays the current list of Cattrax Web user groups and the users assigned to each group. Functions available through this page allow an administrative user to create or edit user groups and to add or remove individual users to and from groups.

Any user group entry in the list may be expanded to display the group members by clicking the small right-facing arrow on the left side of the group name entry you wish to open.



Admin Demo User Staff Order		T	
Demo User		Con Admin	2 0
Staff User		training 🔀	- 0
		noUser 🗙	Dem
		Use S	Sunt
	আ		
	1.2.1		

Figure 5-7 User Groups Page

You may add or delete a user group, or edit a user group name as follows:

• Click *Add User Group* to add a new group. A pop-up dialog box prompts you to enter a name for the user group you wish to add, as shown at right.

User Gro	up:	
<u>Save</u>	Cancel	

- Click *Save* to add the new group to the list.
- To delete a user group, click the *red* "x" at the right edge of the group name entry you wish to delete. You will be asked to confirm the action before the group is removed.
- You may change the name of a user group by clicking the *Pencil Icon* to the left of the group name you wish to edit.
- Make any desired changes to the group name and click Save to retain the change.
- Click Cancel to exit the dialog box with no change.

Individual users may be added to or deleted from a user group as follows:

- Expand the user group entry to display current membership by clicking the right-facing arrow at the left edge of the group name entry you wish to edit.
- Add individual users to the group by locating their User ID in the list on the right hand side of the page. Click the user name and then click the arrow button between the columns to add the User ID to the user group list.
- To delete an individual user from a group, locate the user name in the group membership list and click the *red* "x" at the right edge of the user name entry you wish to delete. You will be asked to confirm the action before the user is removed.



# 5.8 CATTRAX WEB CONTROL SYSTEM ARCHITECTURE OVERVIEW

The Cattrax Web system consists of a number of virtual components and control elements, created during configuration of the Cattrax Web application, that work together in a hierarchical order to control and limit access by individual users and user groups to specific router system resources. In order for Cattrax Web to function as a control element in conjunction with the PERC2000 or PERC3000 System Controller, there must be a logical association established between the actual hardware controller device and a virtual component of Cattrax Web called a *Virtual Controller*.

In most all PESA installations, a common system controller device (hardware) coordinates operation of the entire router system and all router components. In order for the controller to operate, a router configuration file that controls all aspects of system controller operation is created and loaded into the controller's on-board memory. Among many other things, the router configuration file defines all of the router system resources (signal sources and destinations, switching levels and components, and system salvos). It is the router system resources that allow router control devices (hardware panels or software switching applications such as Cattrax Web) to make signal switches through the router system components.

In order to create a Cattrax Web control instance, the following virtual components must be defined and configured by an administrative user:

**Virtual Controller** – A Virtual Controller is a named component that associates a virtual control instance to actual PESA system controller hardware in the router installation. Cattrax Web allows multiple virtual controllers in a configuration; all of which may be associated to the same hardware system controller. Router system resources defined by the hardware system controller configuration file are accessible by the virtual control devices of Cattrax Web.

**System Resource Include Lists** – System Resource Include Lists define the source signals, destination signals, switching levels and *system* salvos that are accessible through the Cattrax Web control instance to which they are associated. These lists are created by selecting specific system resources contained in the router configuration file of the system controller to which a virtual controller is associated.

**Subsystem** – A Subsystem is a named Cattrax Web component that establishes a logical association between a specific set of system resource include lists and a virtual controller.

**Workspace** – A Workspace is a named control instance that associates a subsystem to individual users or user groups, and grants these users access to the signal partition of the router defined by the resource include lists associated to the subsystem.

Figure 5-8 illustrates the virtual components of Cattrax Web required to configure a control system instance. The illustration shows two virtual controllers, with two subsystems associated to each; and two workspace elements associated to each subsystem. In an actual configuration, there is no limit to the number of virtual elements allowed by Cattrax Web.

Once users are granted access to a specific workspace either as individual users or by membership in a user group granted access to the workspace, they may control and monitor status of the signal groups, levels and salvos contained in the lists defined for the workspace instance. Control and monitor functions are accessed from the Switching page.

In Cattrax Web architecture, at least one virtual controller must be configured to communicate commands and status between the hardware system controller to which it is associated, and at least one Cattrax Web subsystem must be configured for that virtual controller. For Cattrax Web subsystem configuration purposes, system resources configured for the hardware system controller also become resources available to any virtual controller(s) associated to that hardware controller.





Figure 5-8 Cattrax Web System Diagram

# 5.9 CATTRAX WEB SYSTEM CONFIGURATION

Configuring a Cattrax Web system consists of creating the various virtual components and workspace assignments for the installation. Once configured, the set-up may be saved as a file and later used to restore the installation, if ever needed.

Here is an overview of the steps required to configure a Cattrax Web control instance:

1. Define one or more Cattrax Web virtual controller instances by name, and associate each one to the actual System Controller hardware. This is done through the **Virtual Controllers** page accessed through the Setup home page.



2. Create Lists that define which sources, destinations, switching levels and system salvos under control of the system controller hardware are available to the subsystem. This is done through the **Create Lists** page.



- 3. Define subsystem instances that associate a set of specific lists to a virtual controller. This is done through the **Subsystems** page.
- 4. Define which individual users or user groups are granted access to the defined subsystems. This is done through the **Workspaces** page.

For example, assume you are going to grant user access to a number of operator stations in an editing suite and you want to custom tailor each operator station for control access to only the partition of the router that routes signals pertinent to that station. You could define a **virtual controller** named *Edit Suite* and associate it to the router hardware system controller. Then by defining system resource include **lists** and **subsystems** for the virtual controller named Edit Suite and configuring **workspace** assignments for particular users, or groups of users, you can designate and limit access to the router in virtually any way you wish. Likewise, in the same installation, if you wish to grant entirely different access capability to the engineering group, you could define a virtual controller named *Engineering*. This Cattrax Web component associates to the same hardware system controller, but now it allows you to configure lists, subsystems and workspace assignments for completely different router access. The tiered **Virtual Controller**  $\rightarrow$  **Lists**  $\rightarrow$  **Subsystem**  $\rightarrow$ **Workspace** user configuration scheme allows a great deal of flexibility in planning your router control operation. When an authorized user logs in to Cattrax Web and opens the Switching page, the user configuration specifically defines the workspaces that an individual user can view and control.

## 5.10 HARDWARE CONFIGURATION PAGES

Virtual Controllers, Resource Include Lists and Subsystems are created through the Hardware Configuration pages of Cattrax Web. These pages may be accessed from either the Setup home page icons or by clicking the *Hardware* tab in the menu bar.

## 5.10.1 CONTROLLERS PAGE

The Controllers page, Figure 5-9, lists PESA hardware system controllers discovered on the device network by name and IP address. In most installations only one system controller device is used and would be the only device listed in the display. The Status column identifies the offline or online status of the system controller device. Click on a controller device entry to select and highlight the table row. A separate box, to the right of the Controller list, identifies the network operating parameters of the selected device.

Controllers					
Controller	IP Address	Status			
Command Center	192.168.3.77	online	Comman	d Center	and a second
PERC 3000 192.168.3.223	192.168.3.223	offline	X IP Addres	ss: 192.168.3.77	
			Subnet:	255.255.252.0	D
			Gateway:	192.168.3.1	

Figure 5-9 Controllers Page



If a hardware controller is offline, any virtual controller(s) associated to the device cannot actively control the router. You may assign the same hardware system controller device to any number of different Cattrax Web virtual controllers.

# 5.10.2 VIRTUAL CONTROLLERS PAGE

The Virtual Controllers page allows you to add, edit and delete Cattrax Web virtual controller components. A virtual controller must have a unique name and be associated to a system controller device that has been discovered by Cattrax Web. You may associate the same hardware controller to any number of different Cattrax Web virtual controllers. An example Virtual Controllers page is shown by Figure 5-10.

	Virtual C	Controllers	Subsystems	<u> </u>		
Virtua	I Controller	Controller	Status		Demo Contro	oller 😹
Ø APT		PERC 2000 192.168.3.108	offline	×	Controller	Command Center
2 Dama	Controller	Command Center	- attilent	×	Location:	
					IP Address	192.168.3.77
					Subnet:	255.255.252.0
					Gateway:	192.168.3.1
					Description:	
					Contact	
					Phone	
					Email	
Add Virtual	Controller	Retresh List			17-01-01-01-0 17	

## Figure 5-10 Virtual Controllers Page

You may add or delete a virtual controller, or edit a controller name as follows:

- Click the *Add Virtual Controller* button to add a new controller component and open the pop-up dialog box, as shown here.
- Enter a name for the new virtual controller in the box beside the prompt.
- The Status entry line contains a drop-down listing of all available hardware system controller devices in the router installation, and displays the current online/offline status of each device. In most installations there will only be one device listed.

Virtual Cont	roller	Controller		Status
Virtual Controller:	Demo Contro	oller		
Status:	Command C	enter-[online]	•	
Location:	Studio A			
Contact:	Chief Editor			
Phone:	-			
Email:				
Description:	Free Text Are	а		
Save Cance	1			



- Select the system controller device from the listing that you wish to associate to the virtual controller you are creating.
- The remaining entries: Location, Contact, Phone, Email and Description are free text entry areas that you may use to further define the component you are creating. It is not necessary that data be supplied in any of these areas in order to create the virtual controller and add its name to the table listing.
- Click the *Save* button to add the new virtual controller to the table.
- To delete a virtual controller, click the *red* "x" at the right edge of the name entry you wish to delete. You will be asked to confirm the action before the component is removed.
- You may edit the name or other information of a virtual controller by clicking the *Pencil Icon* to the left of the name you wish to edit.
- Make any desired changes to the name or other data in the dialog box and click *Save* to retain the change.
- Click Cancel to exit the dialog box with no change.



1. If the hardware system controller used by a Cattrax Web virtual controller is changed through the Virtual Controllers page, the resource include lists created for the Virtual controller will be deleted.

2. If a virtual controller is deleted all subsystems and workspaces associated to it are also deleted.

## 5.10.3 CREATE SYSTEM RESOURCE INCLUDE LISTS

The Create Lists page allows you to create named System Resource Include Lists that identify system resources, by resource type, to which you wish to allow control and status access by Cattrax Web subsystem components configured for a specific virtual controller. Individual lists may be created for Sources, Destinations, Switching Levels and System Salvos from listings of all system resources available through the virtual controller to which the list is associated. You may create lists that grant signal access and control groupings for certain users or user groups, specific programming requirements, or any number of other applications.

If you are familiar with the steps to create a router configuration file through PESA's Cattrax application, the lists we create for a Cattrax Web subsystem are very similar in purpose to the Panel Key Lists that you create and assign to a hardware control panel, in that panel key lists specify the system resources the panel is authorized to control.

Each list you create is assigned a unique name and may be populated with some or all entries of the list type contained in the configuration file of the hardware system controller associated to the specified virtual controller. There are four list types:

**Sources** – Contains a listing of router sources included in the list.

**Destinations** – Contains a listing of router destinations included in the list.

Levels – Identifies router switching levels for which this list grants control.

Salvos – Identifies the system salvos included for operator access through this list.



As a method of further designating and limiting access to the router, multiple lists of each system resource type may be created from the set of resources identified for a virtual controller, and access to each list may be granted or denied as desired to the various subsystems created under the virtual controller.

An example Create Lists page is shown by Figure 5-11.

)em	o 2-[online] 👻	In Source List	All Sources
1	Гуре	- Go to item -	- Go to item
¥	Sources	PC 1	Test 1
	👝 Demo Source 🥃	PC 2	Test 12
	List 🔦	Phabrix	Test 2
¥.	Destinations	PUMA	Test 22
1	🤌 Demo Dest List 🗙	PUMA 2	TS 1
	Levels	QuadView	TS 2
		Qview 2	
100	All Levels		
× .	Salvos		
	🥖 All Salvos 🗙		

Figure 5-11 Create Lists Page

There is a drop-down menu at the top of the column on the left that opens to a list of all virtual controllers configured for Cattrax Web, refer to Figure 5-12. Beneath the virtual controller field is a table where each of the four system resource list types are displayed with an arrow icon to the left of each entry that expands the listing contents. When a list type entry is expanded, any lists already created for the system resource type, are identified under the header.

To the right of the table are two columns, labeled In <list type> List and All <available list type entries>.

In xxx List displays the contents of a list selected from the table.

*All xxx* displays the available signals, levels or salvos contained in the hardware system controller's configuration file that have not been included in the content of the list.



# **Create Lists Page Configuration**

You may add and populate lists associated to a virtual controller as follows:

• Open the *Virtual Controller* drop-down menu, as shown in Figure 5-12, and select the virtual controller you wish to associate with the resource lists you are creating.

	Sources	Include List Table
3	Sources	
	Demo Source List	
1	Destinations	
210 21	🥖 Demo Dest List 👔	ļ
1111	Levels	
1	🥖 All Levels	
1	Salvos	
11	🥖 All Salvos 🛛	
-		-'
		New List Type Drop-Down Menu
		Source
		Source
		Destination
		Level

Figure 5-12 Create Lists Configuration

- Select the resource list type you want to create from the drop-down menu beneath the table as shown in Figure 5-12.
- Enter a name for the list in the *New List Name* field and click the *Add List* button to create the new list.
- Locate the list you just created by name under the *Type* entry in the table, and click to select and highlight the entry.
- Initially, there will be no items included in the *In List* column, and all system resources of the selected type available through the virtual controller you selected are displayed in the *All xxx* column.
- Using the arrows located between the column lists, select and move the items you want to add from the available to the included list.
- The list is automatically saved as items are entered to the *In List* column.



You may edit existing lists associated to a virtual controller as follows:

- Open the *Virtual Controller* drop-down menu, as shown in Figure 5-12, and select the virtual controller associated with the list you want to edit.
- Expand the proper resource list type entry in the table and locate the list by name.
- Click the list name to select and highlight the entry.
- All items of the list type currently contained in the list are displayed in the *In List* column, and all entries available for the list type are displayed in the *All xxx* column.
- Using the arrows located between the column lists, select and move items you want to add to the list from the available column to the *In List* column.
- Select and move items you want to remove from the list from the *In List* column to the available column.
- The list is automatically saved as items are moved between columns.

You may change the name of an existing resource list associated to a virtual controller as follows:

- Open the *Virtual Controller* drop-down menu, as shown in Figure 5-12, and select the virtual controller associated with the list name you want to change.
- Expand the proper list type entry in the table and locate the list by name.
- Click the *Pencil Icon* to the left of the list name you wish to change and open the name change dialog box.
- Make any desired changes to the list name in the dialog box and click Save to retain the change.
- Click Cancel to exit the dialog box with no change.

You may delete existing lists associated to a virtual controller as follows:

- Open the *Virtual Controller* drop-down menu, as shown in Figure 5-12, and select the virtual controller associated with the list you want to delete.
- Expand the proper list type entry in the table and locate the list by name.
- Click the list name to select and highlight the entry.
- Click the *red* "*X*" at the right edge of the table entry to delete the list.
- You will be prompted to verify the action.



If the hardware system controller used by a Cattrax Web virtual controller is changed through the Virtual Controllers page, the resource include lists created for the virtual controller will be deleted.



## 5.10.4 SUBSYSTEMS

The Subsystems page allows subsystems associated to a virtual controller to be created, configured and deleted. In Cattrax Web architecture, a subsystem is a named virtual component that associates resource lists to a virtual controller, thereby configuring the sources, destinations, switching levels and system salvos of the router available through the subsystem to users and user groups authorized to access the subsystem component. Remember that every subsystem must be associated to one, and only one, virtual controller; however, each virtual controller component can have an association with multiple subsystems. Multiple lists of each system resource type may be created and individually assigned to a particular subsystem as a method of designating and limiting access to the router.

Cattrax Web displays the lists associated to a virtual controller system and, through the Subsystem page, allows you to select the list or lists that contain the control assignments you wish to grant to particular users or user groups assigned access to the subsystem. An example Subsystem page is shown by Figure 5-13.

Demo 2-(online)		
Subsystem	Source List	Dest List
T		
🕈 Gerna System 🛛 🗶	Demo Source List	Demo Dest List
	Level List	Sako List
	At Levels	Al Salvos

Figure 5-13 Subsystems Page

Above the Subsystem table area is a drop-down menu that opens to a listing all Cattrax Web virtual controllers that have been created through the Virtual Controllers page. When a virtual controller is selected from the list, subsystems that are already defined and associated to that virtual controller are displayed in the Subsystem table. All resource include lists associated to the selected virtual controller are displayed, by type, in the boxes to the right of the subsystem table.

A check mark in the box beside any of the list entries indicates that all system resources included in that list are available to all users granted access to the subsystem currently selected in the Subsystem table.

Configuration of a subsystem involves selecting the Cattrax Web virtual controller from the drop-down menu to which you wish to associate the subsystem, and selecting the list(s) of each type from the displayed available lists for which you wish to grant status and control access to users assigned to the subsystem.



Beneath the Level List display box is a drop-down that lists all the system switching levels available for access by the active (check in the box) level resource lists. The level name displayed in the box is the *Status Level* of the subsystem. Status level indicates the default switching level displayed or controlled by Cattrax Web when the Switching page is displayed in hide level display mode.

## **Subsystem Page Configuration**

Click any subsystem entry in the table to display the lists associated to the subsystem. You may add or delete lists for the displayed subsystem simply by checking or un-checking the box next to each list entry. Checking or un-checking the box in any table header selects or deselects all lists in the table. The default status level may be changed by opening the drop-down list and selecting the switching level you wish to promote to status level. Added or deleted lists or status level changes are immediately updated for the subsystem entry.

You may add or delete a subsystem, or edit a subsystem name as follows:

- Open the drop-down menu and select the virtual controller that you wish to associate with the subsystem you are creating.
- Click *Add Subsystem* to add a new subsystem. A pop-up dialog box prompts you to enter a name for the subsystem you wish to add, as shown at right.

Subsyste	em:	
<u>Save</u>	<u>Cancel</u>	

- Click *Save* to add the new subsystem to the list.
- To delete a subsystem, click the *red* "x" at the right edge of the name entry you wish to delete. You will be asked to confirm the action before the subsystem is removed.
- You may change the name of a subsystem by clicking the *Pencil Icon* to the left of the name entry you wish to edit.
- Make any desired changes to the subsystem name and click Save to retain the change.
- Click Cancel to exit the dialog box with no change.

When a new subsystem is created there are no system resource include lists selected for it. Assign router access to the subsystem as follows:

- Add lists from any of the list groupings to the subsystem by placing a check in the box next to the lists you wish to add to the subsystem. To add all lists in the grouping, check the box in the list group header. You may remove any list from the subsystem by removing the check in the box next to the list entry.
- Open the status level drop-down menu and select the default status level for the subsystem.



If a subsystem is deleted all the workspaces associated to that subsystem are also deleted.



## 5.11 WORKSPACES CONFIGURATION

A **workspace** maps subsystems to individual users or user groups that are given router control access through that subsystem. The Workspaces page allows workspace entries to be created, configured and deleted. Each workspace entry is given a unique name and may only be associated to one subsystem; however, any subsystem may be associated to any number of workspaces. Access the Workspaces user interface page from the Setup home page icon or by clicking the Workspaces tab on the menu bar. An example Workspaces page is shown by Figure 5-14.

/orkspaces		Subsystem Virtual	Controller
🛛 Workspace Name 🔍 Subsystem 🗠		T	T
Demo 1		Demo System Demo 2	
(Subsystem:Demo System)		APT Subs APT	
🖾 group		CC SS1 Command	Center
Drag a user or user group here			
APT Subs			
(Subsystem:APT Subs)		Group Name	User Name
	1	~	-
CC SS1			
CC SS1 X		group	Admin

Figure 5-14 Workspaces Page

The Workspaces page displays a listing of all currently configured workspace entries on the left side of the page (Workspaces table). On the right side of the page is an area labeled *Subsystem* that displays a listing of all configured subsystems and also identifies the Cattrax Web virtual controller to which each subsystem is associated.

Beneath the subsystem display is a listing of User Groups (Group Name table) on the left and individual Users (User Name table) on the right.

Each workspace entry is displayed as an individual box in the Workspace table. The name of the workspace is displayed at the top of each box and directly beneath the name in parentheses is the subsystem name associated with the workspace. When a workspace entry is selected from the table, the border of the box is displayed in green. Expanding the workspace entry reveals a listing of all individual users and user groups authorized access to the workspace, as shown by the workspace entry named Demo System in Figure 5-14.



The example workspace entry in Figure 5-14 provides the following information:

- The selected workspace is named *Demo 1*.
- Demo 1 is associated to the subsystem *Demo System*.
- The *Subsystem* table indicates that subsystem Demo System is associated to the Cattrax Web virtual controller named *Demo 2*.
- There is one individual user, *Demo\_User*, and one user group, named *group*, granted access to subsystem Demo System through the workspace named Demo 1. You may expand the user group entry to open a list of users assigned to the group.

Whenever the individual user, *Demo\_User*, or any member of the user group logs in to Cattrax Web and opens the Switching page through their browser, the workspace *Demo 1* is included in a listing, along with any other workspaces to which they are assigned, from a drop-down menu on the Switching page. By selecting Demo 1 as the active workspace, all router access granted by the lists selected for subsystem Demo System is available to the user from the web browser page. Refer to paragraph 5-17 for more information on the Switching page.

## **Workspaces Page Configuration**

Workspace entries may be added and associated to a subsystem by either of two methods:

## Method 1

- Click on the subsystem name in the table on the right side of the page for which you wish to create a new workspace.
- Click the top left-facing arrow between the listing areas to add the name to the Workspaces table.

## Method 2

- Scroll to the bottom of the workspace list area and locate the box labeled "*Drag a subsystem here*", as shown at right.
- Locate the subsystem you wish to associate with the workspace you are creating from the Subsystem table on the right side of the page.
- Left click, hold and drag the subsystem name to the "*Drag a subsystem here*" box.
- A new workspace entry is added to the listing.

Regardless of which method you use to add a new workspace, the following steps complete the process:

- By default, the subsystem name is entered as the workspace name until the name is changed as desired.
- Click the *Pencil Icon* to the right of the name entry and enter a name for the new workspace in the pop-up dialog box and click Save to retain the change.

Demo_User  Drag a user or user group here APT Subs (Subsystem:APT Subs)	🖽 group	×
Drag a user or user group here APT Subs (Subsystem:APT Subs)	Demo_User	×
APT Subs Xa (Subsystem:APT Subs)	Drag a user or u	iser group here
(Subsystem:APT Subs)	APT Subs	ר
N 4 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	(Subsystem:APT S	Subs)
CC SS1	CC SS1	×O
(Subsystem:CC SS1)	(Subsystem:CC S	S1)
1	Drag a su	bsystem here
	Drag a su	bsystem here



- Assign users to the new workspace by either of the two methods discussed in the next paragraph.
- To delete a workspace entry, click the *red* "x" just to the right of the workspace entry name you wish to delete. You will be asked to confirm the action before the workspace is removed.

Click any workspace entry in the table to display the subsystem and users configured for the workspace. Ensure that the border around the workspace you clicked is shaded green. You may add individual users or user groups to the workspace by either of two methods:

#### Method 1

- Click on the user name or the group name in the appropriate table on the right side of the page that you wish to add to the workspace.
- Click the bottom left-facing arrow between the table areas to add the name to the workspace listing.

#### Method 2

•

• Left click, hold and drag the user name or group name you wish to add to the workspace to the box labeled "*Drag a user or user group here*" at the bottom of the workspace entry.

To delete users or user groups from the workspace click the *red* "x" at the right edge of the name entry you wish to delete.

You may edit or change a workspace name or delete a workspace entry as follows:

- Click the *Pencil Icon* to the right of the workspace name entry you wish to edit. A pop-up dialog box displays the current name, as shown here.
- Name Demo System
- Click Cancel to exit the dialog box with no change.

and click Save to retain the change.

Make any desired changes to the workspace name

• To delete a workspace entry, click the *red* "x" just to the right of the workspace entry name you wish to delete. You will be asked to confirm the action before the workspace is removed.



## 5.12 SERVER CONFIGURATION FUNCTIONS

Functions available through the Cattrax Web Server Configuration page allow system administrator level users to manage and maintain the server. Server pages are accessible only to users with administrator privileges, with the exception of the Logs page which is accessible to both administrator and supervisor level users. Access Server Configuration functions from the Setup home page icon or by clicking the *Server* tab on the menu bar.



## 5.13 SERVER CONFIGURATION USER INTERFACE PAGE

The Server Configuration page, Figure 5-15, provides a user with administrator privileges access to a collection of system configuration functions and options. Each functional area of the page is discussed in the following paragraphs.

Server Configuration				
Subnet Information	Administrative Email Com	munication Setup		
Subnet Broadcast Address	Allow administrative em	ail communication		
192 168 3 255	Email Server Address:			
	Username:			
	Password:			
	From:			
Add Subnet	Port:			
Display Options	Enable SSL			
🖉 Show Icons for Source/Dest/Salvos				
🕼 Change the word "Switching" to "Routing"	Test Email	Save Changes		
Display system announcement in header	Security Settings			
Display system announcement in footer	Users timed out after 480	minutes of inactivity.		
Donus in the break bonn	Allow users to change password			
	Allow users to create an	Allow users to create an account at login		
Custom Logo (.png, .jpg, or .jpeg, 600px X 65px)	LDAP (Lightweight Directory Access Protocol)			
Select	Show button to login wi	th LDAD using name/nacewo		
Upload Restore Default Logo	I DAP - Friendly Name:			
General Settings	Loss a nondigitalite.			
	Allow users to login wit	h LDAP using NTLM.		
Light Vice Intervelo	NTLM - Friendly Name:	Active Directory		
	Server:	localhost:10389		
	Base Distinguished Name:			
Contact Information on Login Page	Filter:	memberOf=CN=Software Er		
Contact Email: admin@localhost	Format Dianlau	(con 0) ((c) + 0)		
Contact Phone:	Format Login:	(cn:0) ((Ul0:0))		
Error Messages Mode	Format - Liger ID:	uia=(asena),ou=system		
	Format- USEI ID.	[{uid.0}		
Error Mode: Always 👻 Save Mode Change	User - Name:			
	User - Password:			
	User - Domain:			




## 5.13.1 SUBNET BROADCAST ADDRESS CONFIGURATION (SUBNET INFORMATION)

Refer to paragraph 5.5.

# 5.13.2 SYSTEM RESOURCE ICONS (DISPLAY OPTIONS)

Cattrax Web allows you to optionally place a user selectable icon next to system resource listings (sources, destinations and salvos) on the switching page, event stack page and schedule editing page, if desired. Check the box next to the *Show Icons for Source/Dest/Salvos* entry to activate the show icons option. When icons are used on the display pages, each line entry will use twice the page space as text only listings.



Graphical icons are not created through Cattrax Web. Icons you wish you use on the switching display pages must be obtained or created from a source external to Cattrax Web, must be of the proper size and format for Cattrax Web to display, and must be stored on the server hosting the Cattrax Web application, as discussed in the paragraph below.

Icons for sources, destinations and salvos need to be uploaded to the web server. Place the files in the directory C:\inetpub\wwwroot\Application\Control\*type* where *type* is "Source", "Dest" or "Salvo". Cattrax Web installs several sample icons. The filename should exactly match the name of the source, destination or salvo it should be associated with and have a file extension of "png", "gif", "jpg", "jpeg" or "bmp". If the source, destination or salvo name has a character that is not allowed in a filename, it should be replaced with a "-". Characters not allowed in a file name are "/", "\", "<", ".", "!", "?", "\*" and the double quote character.

# 5.13.3 SWITCHING OR ROUTING DISPLAY PREFERENCE (DISPLAY OPTIONS)

Cattrax Web allows you to choose between the words "Switching" or "Routing" as the displayed word on all system pages pertaining to switching/routing functions. Check the box next to the *Change the word* "*Switching*" to "*Routing*" entry to display the word "routing" rather than the factory default word "switching". Removing the check will cause Cattrax Web to use the word "switching" on all pertinent system pages.

# 5.13.4 SYSTEM BROADCAST ANNOUNCEMENT CONFIGURATION (DISPLAY OPTIONS)

Cattrax Web allows you to place a broadcast message in either the header or footer, or both locations, of every user interface page. This message is visible to users of any privilege level. To add an announcement message, check the box labeled *Display system announcement in header* or check the box labeled *Display system announcement in header* or check the box labeled *Display system announcement in footer*. If you want the message to appear at both the top and bottom of the page, place a check in both boxes. Enter the text you wish to display in the system announcement field. To remove a message, uncheck the appropriate box in the *Display Options* configuration area.

# 5.13.5 CUSTOM LOGO CONFIGURATION (DISPLAY OPTIONS)

Cattrax Web allows you to display a custom header image at the top of every user interface page in place of the factory default logos. In order to fit the area, the custom image file should be 600 pixels wide by 65 pixels tall. Valid file formats are .png, .jpg and .jpeg.

To add a custom header, click the Custom Logo *Select* box in the *Display Options* configuration area, browse to the image file and click Upload. The PESA default logo header may be restored at any time by clicking the *Restore Default Logo* button.



#### 5.13.6 GENERAL SETTINGS

The drop-down list labeled *Theme* allows you to choose a dark or light background theme for the login page of Cattrax Web. This setting selects only the login page background and does not override an individual users' display theme setting for all other browser pages made through the User Profile page.

*Update Interval* allows you set the rate at which browser pages are refreshed by the server running Cattrax Web. From the drop-down list, you may choose a refresh rate of 1 to 4 seconds. The default is 1 second, and this setting should always be used unless you are experiencing slow performance issues with the server.

*Log Level* allows you choose the detail level at which log data is written to the xxx.ctx file used for system troubleshooting. The .ctx file is automatically created by Cattrax Web and stored by the server running the application. This file is rarely, if ever, accessed or open by a user of Cattrax Web during normal operation of the application, and is accessible only by opening the program folder where the file is stored. If it is ever necessary to troubleshoot the Cattrax Web system, a PESA Customer Service technician may ask you to access this file. Factory default for the log level is *Debug*, and should not be changed unless requested by a PESA technician. If it is ever necessary, you may select the log level from the drop-down list options shown at right.



# 5.13.7 CONTACT INFORMATION ON LOGIN PAGE

You may choose to display an Email address and/or a telephone number in the login dialog box that allows users to contact a system administrator. Simply enter the Email address and phone number in the appropriate fields. Data present in either of these fields is displayed in the lower portion of the login dialog box.

# 5.13.8 Administrative Email Communication Setup

Cattrax Web includes an Email server function that allows the application to communicate with registered users through the facility Email system. Activate the Email server function by placing a check in the box labeled *Allow administrative email communication* and enter the address of a SMTP mail server and a username and password for an email account on that server. In the *From* field, enter the name you wish to appear as the from address on email sent by Cattrax Web. Enter the port number of the SMTP mail server. Check the "*Use SSL*" box if email should be sent using SSL.

Email notifications sent to the Cattrax Web system, such as notification of a new user request or user password change request from the login page, are sent to the email address entered on the User Profile page for the default *Admin* user.

# 5.13.9 USER INACTIVITY TIMER CONFIGURATION (SECURITY SETTINGS)

The inactivity timer function of Cattrax Web checks each logged in user for interface activity with the application and compares periods of user inactivity against the number of minutes configured for timeout. When a user is inactive for the specified number of minutes, the account becomes inactive and in order to continue with any session activity, the user is redirected to the login page, and must re-enter the User ID and Password of the account. Enter the number of minutes you wish to allow before timeout in the field.





A logged-in user continues to count against the number of users allowed by the license until one of the following occurs: a) the timeout expires, b) the user logs out, c) Cattrax Web is restarted. Cattrax Web cannot detect that a browser tab or window has been closed and so cannot reduce the active user count when this happens. Setting this timeout to a large value, combined with users not explicitly logging out, could cause all the available users' slots to be considered taken even though there are perhaps only a few actual simultaneous users.

# 5.13.10LOGIN DIALOG BOX USER PROMPT CONFIGURATION (SECURITY SETTINGS)

Cattrax Web can display prompts in the login dialog box that allow a new user to create a user account and request activation directly from the browser page, or allow an existing user to change their password. An administrative user can select either or both of these prompts for display by checking or un-checking the appropriate box in the user prompt configuration area. In order for either of the prompts to display, regardless of whether the box is checked, the System Email function must be enabled and configured as a valid Email account for the facility.

# 5.13.11ALTERNATIVE LOGIN CONFIGURATION (ACTIVE DIRECTORY & LDAP)

Refer to paragraph 5.14.

# 5.13.12ERROR MODE (ERROR MESSAGES MODE)

Cattrax Web can display reported server errors which may be useful in system troubleshooting, if necessary. The Error Mode list allows you to set how network server errors are displayed from the following options:

- Server Only Displays server errors only on the server machine hosting the Cattrax Web application.
- Always Displays server errors on all open instances of Cattrax Web.
- Never Server errors will not be shown by Cattrax Web.

# 5.14 ALTERNATIVE LOG-IN CONFIGURATION (OPTIONALLY AVAILABLE FEATURE)

The following configuration steps are only required if your Cattrax Web installation is licensed to use alternative log-in options.

Cattrax Cattrax Web supports two methods of user log in with externally authenticated domain login credentials through an external server running the Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP) such as Microsoft Active Directory Domain Services (AD).

The first is by entering the username and password for the external service that uses LDAP. The second, available only when using AD, uses NT LAN Manager (NTLM) along with LDAP and does not require a username or password to be entered, but instead uses the credentials used to log on to the Windows domain.

A functional tutorial on the network/IT requirements for these services is beyond the scope of this User Guide. The setup and configuration settings you enter through Cattrax Web provide the interface links and operational data to these external network services.

Error Mode:	Always 👻
	ServerOnly
	Always
	Never



If you, as the Cattrax Web administrator performing this system setup step are not familiar with the setup and operational requirements of the AD or LDAP services, PESA highly recommends that you consult your IT support staff, facility network administrator or other resource knowledgeable of these external services for assistance before proceeding.

In order to use either of these methods, you must first configure Cattrax Web through settings entered in the fields on the Server Configuration page. Each field is introduced in the following paragraphs.

Configure Cattrax Web for use with an LDAP service as follows:

- Show button to login with LDAP using name/password A check in this box authorizes external credential logins to Cattrax Web with LDAP. The LDAP login button will be shown on the login page to allow a user to login using external credentials by entering their username and password.
- LDAP Friendly Name This is a free text field that allows you to enter the text label that will be displayed to users on the Cattrax Web login page in the button used to launch an LDAP login. The text "LDAP" is the factory default, but you may change the button label to a more descriptive or localized prompt, if desired.
- Allow users to login with LDAP using NTLM A check in this box authorizes external credential logins to Cattrax Web with LDAP using NTLM. The NTLM login button will be shown on the login page to allow a user to login using external credentials without entering their username and password. The credentials used to log on to the Windows domain will automatically be used.
- **NTLM Friendly Name** This is a free text field that allows you to enter the text label that will be displayed to users on the Cattrax Web login page in the button used to launch an LDAP with NTLM login. The text "Active Directory" is the factory default, but you may change the button label to a more descriptive or localized prompt, if desired.

The following fields apply to both types of logins:

- Server Enter the address and port number of the LDAP server in this field. The default field entry is the address of the web server currently hosting the computer running Cattrax Web.
- **Base Distinguished Name** Enter the proper series of Relative Distinguished Names, separated by commas, which define the directory entry from which searches occur.
- Format Filter Using LDAP protocol syntax; enter a filter that will be used to filter the results of the search.
- **Format Display** Using LDAP protocol syntax; enter the formatting commands to set the format of the display name that will be sent to Cattrax Web from the LDAP server.
- **Format Login** Using LDAP protocol syntax; enter the formatting commands to set the format of the login name that will be sent by Cattrax Web to the LDAP server.
- Format User ID Using LDAP protocol syntax; enter the formatting commands to set the format of the text that will be used as the User's login ID.
- User Name If required by your network configuration, enter the User Name that Cattrax Web uses to login to the LDAP server.
- User Password If required by your network configuration, enter the Password that Cattrax Web uses to login to the LDAP server.
- User Domain If required by your network configuration, enter the name of the network domain in which Cattrax Web resides.



## 5.15 BACKUP & RESTORE

Through the Backup and Restore page, Figure 5-16, it is possible to backup and restore the Cattrax Web database. Backup database files are stored on the system server. Click *Backup Database* to write the current database to the server. The file is added to the Backed-Up Database List, as shown. If you ever need to restore Cattrax Web to a particular database, simply select the desired database filename from the listing and click the *Restore Database* button.

erver Config	uration	Backi	up and F	Hardware Restore		Works nse	aces	Serve Serve	er 👌	Logs	
ę.	Bac	kup	and	Rest	tore						
Dealu	n Datak	200									
Баски	Datat	Jase	J								
Backed-Up	Database	e List	) attrax-W	ehDR\/ers	sion1.0	0 bak	~				
Backed-Up	Database	e List 6-PM-C	) attrax-W	ebDBVers	sion1.0.	0.bak	~				
Backed-Up 2012-08-1 2012-11-2 2013-04-0	Database 7_02-45-1 8_10-40-1 1 02-37-0	e List 6-PM-C 5-AM-C	attrax-W attrax-W	ebDBVers ebDBVers	sion1.0.0	0.bak 0.bak 3.bak					
Backed-Up 2012-08-1 2012-11-2 2013-04-0 2013-04-0	Database 7_02-45-1 8_10-40-1 1_02-37-0 1_02-37-1	e List 6-PM-C 5-AM-C 9-PM-C 4-PM-C	attrax-W attrax-W attrax-W attrax-W	ebDBVers ebDBVers ebDBVers ebDBVers	sion1.0.0 sion1.0.0 sion1.1.1	0.bak 0.bak 3.bak 3.bak					

Figure 5-16 Backup and Restore Page



# 5.16 LICENSE

Refer to paragraph 4.2.

# 5.17 LOGS

Through the Logs page, administrators may view the events and error logs maintained by Cattrax Web in chronological order. An example Logs page is shown by Figure 5-17.



🗾 Logs	Logs Archive Control Auto-Archive: 50% of Logs Archive All Nov	• Display	Log Source:	CurrentLogs +		
Time	Message	Туре	Seventy	User	Device	Authenticated User
TI T	T	jan 👻	All 💌	AL	All •	Až •
6/12/2014 9:04:57 AM	Making a switch on destination [Monitor] Video-+Bars Audio Left-+Bars Audio Right-+Bars		Event	Dema_User	PERC 3000 192.168.3.16	Demo_User
012/2014 9:04:63 AM	Making a switch on destination [Monitor]/Video>Bars & Tone;Audio Left->Bars & Tone;Audio Right->Bars & Tone;		Event	Demo_User	PERC 3000 192.168.3.16	Demo_User
6/12/2014 9:04:51 AM	Making a switch on destination  Monitor: Video+Bars & Tone;Audio Left+Bars & Tone;		Event	Demo_User	PERC 3000 192.169.3.16	Demo_User
6/12/2014 9:04:03 AM	Logging in.	LOGIN	Event	Demo_User		
5/12/2014 9:03:57 AM	Bystem Controller (PERC 3000 192168 3.16) came online	Device	Event		PERC 3800 192.168.3.16	
M12/2014 9:03:51 AM	Cattrax core is now loaded.	Device	Event			
6/12/2014 9:03:50 AM	Cathat Web is now starting	Device	Event			
	Switch status received for destination					

# Figure 5-17 Logs Page

#### • Log Table

The log table records various events and conditions during operation of the Cattrax Web application. The following parameters are recorded as applicable for each log entry:

- **Time** Records the time of day the event or condition occurred.
- Message Displays a brief description of the condition or event.
- **Type** Identifies the type of log entry message as follows:
  - Login and Logout Indicates when a user logs in or out of Cattrax-Web.
  - Admin Indicates when a user related change is made. For example a new user added.
  - Object Indicates when a configuration related change is made.
- Severity Identifies the severity of the log entry message as one of the following three levels:
  - Event Indicates something is changed or detected from the device and is not a problem.
  - Warning Indicates some issue the user needs to know but not considered to be an Error. For example an attempt to make a switch on a destination that is locked.
  - Error Indicates an event which needs user's attention. For example, change in device online status.



- User If the log entry pertains to a particular user, the username configured through Cattrax Web for that user is displayed in this column.
- **Device** Identifies the hardware system controller associated with the event or condition.
- **Authenticated User** If the log entry pertains to a particular user, the Windows username for that user is displayed in this column, if the Windows authentication function is activated for the web server.

#### • Log Table Pagination

Navigation controls to access log pages are located at the lower left of the log table. You may choose a specific page by clicking the desired page number, you may move forward or backward through the pages by clicking the left or right facing single arrow button, or you may jump immediately to the first or last page by clicking the left or right facing button with an arrow followed by a vertical line.

The page size drop-down allows you to select the number of log entries that appear on each page, and the counter in the lower right of the table keeps a running count of currently active log entry items and log pages.

#### • Logs Archive Control

Cattrax Web holds up to 10,000 log entries, after which older entries will begin being removed to make space for newer entries. If you wish to maintain a permanent record of system logs, you may choose to manually archive log data, or allow Cattrax Web to automatically archive logs at specified intervals.

You may manually create a log archive file from the current log entries at any time by clicking the *Archive All Now* button. You will be prompted to verify the requested action. Once the log entries have been archived, all currently displayed entries will be removed from the display and from system memory.

Auto-Archive is always active; however, Cattrax Web gives you the option to choose the interval at which logs are archived based on the percentage of memory capacity currently used for retention of logs. The drop-down list gives you the option of 25, 50 of 75% of log storage capacity. For example, if you have selected 50% as the auto-archive interval, when the currently displayed log entries reaches 50% of maximum storage capacity, the entries are automatically archived and removed from system memory.

The Display Log Source drop-down opens to a list of log archive files. If you wish to open a log archive, select the archive file to view from the drop-down. If you choose Current Logs from the list, the log table displays the currently active log entries.

- **Refresh List** Refreshes the log table entries
- **Export Log as Text** Cattrax Web will create and write a text file containing current log entries. You will be prompted to enter a file name and browse to a location where you want the file written.
- **Export Log as CSV** Cattrax Web will create and write a comma separated variable (CSV) file containing current log entries. You will be prompted to enter a file name and browse to a location where you want the file written.



#### 5.18 SWITCHING PAGE

The Switching page, Figure 5-18, is where authorized users of any privilege level can check router status or make switches, i.e. change source to destination connectivity in the router. It is also the default home page for staff level users. Through the Switching page, individual users or members of a user group are allowed access to the devices, destinations, sources, levels and salvos for which they are authorized by the Cattrax Web workspace configuration.

There are five basic functional areas to the Switching page, as shown by Figure 5-18:

paragraph 5.23.

1. Menu Bar The four menu bar buttons open pull-down menus which allow you to select various control options for the switching page. Refer to paragraph 5.18. Allows selection and status monitoring of the workspace currently in use. 2. Workspace Header Refer to paragraph 5.19. 3. Switching Area-This area contains the actual router status and control functions of Cattrax Web. Refer to paragraphs 5.20.1 thru 5.20.4. 4. Salvo Window -This fly-out window allows the user to view a list of system and local salvos available through the workspace. Salvos may be fired from this window, and local salvos may be selected for editing. This window may be pinned to remain open, if desired. Refer to paragraph 5.21. 5. Log Display -Opens a fly-out display area for real-time switching and system operation logs. This window may be pinned to remain open, if desired. Refer to

KSPACE D										
	mā t	• Demp S	vitem VIRTUAL Cr	ONTROLLER D	im 2		00	NTROLLER: T	SRC 3000 192.168	13 MHE) 🔒 (P)
De	utinatien	Video	Autro Lut	Aud	a Fright			Bources	!	Sahot
All •	1		<u>Ti</u>		1		Ai •	1	<u>(7)</u>	-
- 🜉 I	Monitor1	PO	PÓ	PC			0	Testi		Salvo
2	Monitor2	MV 1	MV 1	MV 1			ô.	Test 2		
	W/2-1	WV 1	MV 1	MV 1			D.	PC		
	W2-1	MV 1	MV 1	MV 1			0			-18ALV02
					2		1.4	-		· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
_	SAMIR I	Chen 2	CAR 2	CAR	*	_	×	and and a		****2*
	84 C22 2	m 13	in 13	0.43	<u>i</u>	-	9	in 13		
2	W93	in 18	ins 9 (F	in 18	1		0	in 17		
							9	🍤 in 19		Take Sahn
		Swif	ching Area				8	Manual Take		A Edit Salva
			oning / alou				n_(	Unito	i	
							G. Ho	le Lavois	İ	Salvo
										Window
	Wessage		Log Display	3	Type	Seventy	07 - N	User	Automaticalies	
30			<b>T</b>		A0 *	AR	•	AL	AC C	

Figure 5-18 Example Switching Page



# 5.19 MENU BAR

**Page Menu** – The Page menu opens to a listing of control pages, as shown here, which may be accessed from the Switching page.

*Switching* is the default selection and selects the switching home page for display.

*Salvo Editing* opens the *create and edit* page for local salvos. Refer to paragraph 5.22.

*Event Stack* (only available when the optional Event Scheduling feature is licensed and active) opens the display and status page for switching events scheduled through the Schedule Editing page. Refer to Chapter 6 for information on the optional Event Scheduling feature of Cattrax Web.

*Schedule Editing* (only available when the optional Event Scheduling feature is licensed and active) opens the control page for configuration and editing of automated scheduled switching events. Refer to Chapter 6 for information on the optional Event Scheduling feature of Cattrax Web.

**View Menu** – The View menu opens to a listing of toggle functions that allow you to quickly open/close the flyout display windows or hide/unhide the switching level columns.

*Toggle Log* opens and closes the *Log Display* window. Refer to paragraph 5.23.

*Toggle Salvos* opens and closes the *Salvo Window*. Refer to paragraph 5.22.

*Toggle Levels* unhides and hides the level display columns in the *Destination* display window. Refer to paragraph 5.20.

**Edit Menu** – The Edit menu contains controls that allow you to simultaneously lock or unlock all destinations in the Destination table. Refer to paragraph 5.20.2

Help Menu – The Help menu contains information about Cattrax Web.

Manual opens an on-screen copy of the Cattrax Web User Guide.

*About* displays revision information about the currently running version of the Catrax Web application.

F	'age	View	Edit
	Swite	hing Editing	
	Even	t Stack	
	Sche	dule Editing	3

	View	Edit	Hel
A	Togg	le Log	T
-	Togg	le Salvos	F
-	Togg	le Levels	26



H	lelp	
ſ	Manual	
	About	- 1



## 5.20 WORKSPACE HEADER

The workspace drop-down list, subsystem, virtual controller, hardware system controller associated with the selected Switching page and the number of users logged into the workspace are shown in the workspace header bar above the matrix table display area.

Opening the drop-down list provides a listing of all workspaces to which the logged-in user is granted access.

Open the list and select the workspace containing the router resources you want to monitor or switch. Select "All Workspaces" if you wish to open all authorized workspaces.

The selection is maintained while the user is logged in so that if the user navigates to a different page, for example the Salvo Configuration page, the selected workspace is redisplayed when the user returns to the Switching page.

#### 5.21 SWITCHING AREA

There are two tables in the display area. Router destinations authorized for user access are shown on the left side of the display area. The current router matrix status can be viewed from this table with or without all available switching levels shown. With all switching levels displayed, the source switched to each listed destination for each level is shown in the columns to the right of the *Destination* column.

When the levels are hidden (hidden mode) a *Source* column is shown that reflects sources switched to each listed destination through the Status Level of the subsystem, as defined through the Subsystems configuration page. Refer to paragraph 5.10.4.

Also in hidden mode, a source listing for any destination displayed in a color different from the destination entry indicates that the source for at least one of the switching levels for that destination is different, i.e. the destination is in a breakaway condition.

You can toggle the level display mode by clicking the *Show Levels/Hide Levels* button to the lower right of the switching display area.

The table to the right of the matrix table lists all available router source signals that may be switched to the destinations authorized for the workspace.

If desired, Cattrax Web allows you to place a graphic icon beside destination or source entries for quick identification, as shown in Figure 5-18. The icon display function may be activated or deactivated through a menu selection on the Server Configuration page. Refer to paragraph 5.13.2.

Every table column contains a filter function that allows you perform a data search for a specific character or character string you wish to locate in the column. Enter the search parameter in the data entry box at the top of the column you wish to search. Clicking the filter icon next to the data entry box opens a drop-down menu listing of criteria you may use to refine your search.

You may sort the content of columns that offer sorting capability by clicking the column name header. The column header *Destination* for example, sorts the table in alphabetical order based on the entries in the Destination column. Clicking the header again, reverses the order of sorting, and a third click returns the column to the default display order by the configuration sequence number of the system resource.

#### 5.21.1 PERFORMING A SWITCH ON THE ROUTER

Authorized users can take switches on the router in either All Levels or Breakaway switching modes through the matrix table.



# All Levels Switch

When an All Levels switch is performed, all destination switching levels for which the selected source group contains a valid signal input will be switched to the newly selected source signal(s). To perform an All Levels switch, click the destination name you wish to switch in the Destination column of the matrix table. The destination name will not be highlighted, however all switching level entries on the row will be selected and highlighted. Select the desired switching mode (see Switching Mode, below) and initiate the switch in accordance with the procedure presented.

#### **Breakaway Switch**

When a Breakaway switch is performed, only the selected destination switching levels will be switched to the newly selected source signal(s). To perform a Breakaway switch, expand the matrix table to show all switching levels by clicking the *Show Levels* button. Locate the destination name you wish to switch in the Destination column of the matrix table. Click the row entry in each switching level column that you wish to switch. The selected column cells will be highlighted. Select the desired switching mode (see Switching Mode, below) and initiate the switch in accordance with the procedure presented.

#### **Switching Mode**

Depending on the switching mode selected, you may have a switch occur immediately upon source selection or allow you to select the source and then manually initiate the switch.

The switching mode drop-down button allows you to select any of three available switching modes:

- **Manual Take** (default) User selects the desired destination and source for the switch, followed by clicking *Manual Take*. In this mode it is also possible to double-click on the source entry to make the switch.
- **Hot-Take Source** In this mode the user can select an All Levels or Breakaway switch for a destination and then click on a source to immediately perform a switch on the selected switching levels.
- Hot-Take Destination In this mode the user can select a source and then click on a destination or a level to immediately initiate a switch.

Select the desired switching mode and initiate a switch on the router as follows:

- Locate the entry in the *Destination* column that you wish to switch and select the switching levels on which you wish the switch to occur using either an All Levels or Breakaway switch.
- Click the source name you wish to switch to the destination in the *Sources* table.

# 5.21.2 DESTINATION LOCK MODES

Applying protection to a destination prevents another user or an accidental key press from switching the current source selection. Lock Modes may be selected by clicking the *padlock* icon in the first column of the matrix table on the row of the destination you wish to protect. Each click on the icon toggles between three available lock modes:

- **Unlocked** (Open Padlock icon) Destination is unlocked and can be switched by any authorized user or hardware panel.
- **Protect** (Shield Icon) Clicking the padlock icon on a destination row once places the destination in "Protect" mode, whereby the protected destination can still be switched by another instance of Cattrax Web using the same workspace as the originating user. Hardware panels can not make a switch on the destination with the protect mode in place. However, any hardware panel with lock/protect capability can cancel the protect function and make a switch on the destination.



• Lock – (Latched Padlock Icon) – Clicking the shield icon places the destination in "Lock" mode. In Lock mode the selected destination is "Locked" for all users and can not be switched to a different source by another instance of Cattrax Web or by a hardware panel without first unlocking the selected destination. Any Cattrax Web user or any hardware panel with lock/protect capability can cancel the lock function and make a switch on the destination.



In all cases, another instance of Cattrax Web or a hardware panel with lock/protect capability can change the lock mode status. Cattrax Web logs any changes as to when they were made and by whom.

Destination locks may also be applied to (*Lock All*) or removed from (*Unlock All*) all destinations simultaneously using pull-down menu selections available from the Edit menu on the menu bar. Refer to paragraph 5.18.

# 5.21.3 FAVORITE DESTINATIONS

To allow quick access to often used destinations, Cattrax Web allows you to designate any destinations you wish from the matrix table as favorites. Once you have designated one or more destinations as a favorite, you may apply the favorites filter by opening the drop-down box at the top of the column. Select the *Fav* entry to display only favorite destinations. Selecting *All* from the drop-down box returns all destaintions to the matrix table display.

To designate a destination as a favorite, click the heart-shaped icon in the second column of the matrix table on the row of the destination you wish to make a favorite. When selected, the heart is highlighted. To cancel the favorite designation, click the icon again to de-select the heart.

#### 5.21.4 UNDO FUNCTION

Clicking the Undo button toggles between the current and the last switch status.

# 5.22 SALVOS WINDOW

Open the **Salvos** window panel by clicking the *Salvos* tab on the right edge of the Switching page display. An example panel is shown at right. In normal operation, this panel is a fly-out window and will return to hidden when the cursor is moved out of the window. If desired, you may choose to keep the panel open by clicking the pushpin symbol in the header bar. This panel contains a list of system and local salvos.

System salvos are defined by the system configuration and shown in the list with an asterisk '\*' at the start and end of the salvo name. Example - \*Test1\*, as shown. A salvo can be fired at any time by selecting the salvo and clicking the *Take Salvo* button.

Salvos may be viewed and local salvos may be modified by selecting the salvo and clicking the *Edit Salvo* button. Refer to paragraph 5.17. System salvos can not be modified through Cattrax Web.





## 5.23 SALVO CONFIGURATION (CREATE AND EDIT SALVO PAGE)

The Salvo Configuration page, Figure 5-19, displays system salvos, and allows a user to create and edit local salvos.

There are two ways to access the Salvo Configuration page:

- From the fly-out Salvos window on the Switching page, select the salvo entry from the table list that you wish to edit. Click the *Edit Salvo* button beneath the table to open the Salvo Configuration page to the selected salvo entry.
- Open the Page menu on the menu bar and select *Salvo Editing* from the options list.

The table on the left side of the page displays a listing of all system salvos and local salvos. System salvos are those defined by the system controller configuration file, and cannot be edited or deleted through Cattrax Web. System salvos are shown in the list with an asterisk '\*' at the start and end of the salvo name. Example – \*BarsTone\*, as shown by Figure 5-19.

To the right of the salvo list table are three columns that list, from left to right, available destinations authorized for the workspace, the salvo display area that identifies destinations and sources currently configured for the salvo selected in the name list, and the third column lists the sources that are authorized for access by the workspace.

Local salvos are created through the Salvo Edit page and are available only to users of the workspace shown at the top of the page. When either a system salvo or local salvo is selected from the list, the destinations and sources switched by the salvo are displayed in the salvo display area.

WORKSPACE Demo 1	SUBSYSTEM: Demo System	VIRTUAL CON	TROLLER: Owna 2		
Create and Edit Salvo					
Name	Destination	Destination	Bource	Source	1
T	T	(T)	T		T
* BarsTone *	Monibor	Woolfor	Bars & Tone	Bars & Tone	6
Salvo 1 🗶	TV	TV	Bars & Tone	Bars	
	Speakers			Audio	
	Projector			ToneLow	
	Headphones			ToneMid	
	Computer			ToneHigh	
	CD			Tape	
	DVD			Camera	
	Blu-ray			Webcam	
	Tape			CD	
	RENTI			DVD	
td Balvo GRatesh	RENT2			Bits-ray	
e-Time Switching				-Bicetaie	
	Add Destination	Show Levels			Add Source
	Got Mahin				Oat Ourrant



A local salvo must first be created in the salvo column on the left side of the page, and then configured by selecting entries from the destination and source columns with the matrix table in the middle. The *Add Destination* and *Add Source* buttons may be used to configure the local salvo.



You may add, delete or edit a local salvo as follows:

• Click the *Add Salvo* button to open the pop-up dialog box, as shown below.

Name:	Balvo 1
	💿 Private (?)
Type:	🔘 Public (?)
	O Shared (?)
UnlockBe	foreTake: 🔽
Save	Cancel

- Enter a name for the new local salvo in the box beside the prompt.
- Click the radio button to assign the local salvo type from the following options:
  - **Private** Only the current user can take or edit this local salvo.
  - **Public** All users in this workspace can take this local salvo, but only the current user can edit it.
  - Shared All users in this workspace can take or edit this local salvo.
- If any of the destinations switched by the local salvo are locked at the time the salvo is fired, placing a check in the *Unlock Before Take* box allows all destinations in the salvo to be unlocked and the switch to occur. Once the switch initiated by the salvo has occurred, the destinations will remain unlocked.
- Click *Save* to create the new local salvo.
- Ensure that the new salvo name is selected and highlighted in the list.
- Select the destinations you wish to include in the newly created salvo from the Destination list and click the *Add Destination* button beneath the destination list table.
- Click the *Show Levels* button if you wish to expand the salvo display area to include all switching level columns. Click the destination name in the salvo display area to select all switching levels for an All Levels switch. Click the cells in the switching level columns of the levels you wish to include if configuring a Breakaway switch salvo. The switching level cell must be selected and highlighted before a source can be assigned to it.
- Locate the source you wish to switch to the salvo destination in the Sources list table and click the *Add Source* button beneath the table to add the source to the selected switching level cells.
- The local salvo entries are automatically saved as they are entered.
- If you select any local salvo name from the list and click the *Duplicate* button, a new local salvo identical to the selected salvo is created. You may use the edit command to rename the new salvo and make any changes to the destination and source entries from the salvo display table. This feature is often helpful if you need to create a new local salvo with only slight differences to an existing one.



- To delete a local salvo, click the *red* "x" at the right edge of the name entry you wish to delete. You will be asked to confirm the action before the component is removed.
- You may edit the name, type or unlock permission of a local salvo by clicking the *Pencil Icon* to the left of the name you wish to edit.
- Make any desired changes to the name or other data in the dialog box and click Save to retain the change.
- Click Cancel to exit the dialog box with no change.

*Get Matrix* and *Get Current* buttons are provided to allow the user to display the current status of the routing switcher matrix as the starting configuration for creating or editing a local salvo. Get Matrix retrieves status of the entire matrix, while Get Current retrieves matrix status of only the selected destination or switching level.

Note that local salvos are workspace specific, therefore the workspace selected from the workspace dropdown list displays only local salvos for that particular workspace. System salvos are displayed in the name list regardless of the workspace selected.

Click the *Real-Time Switching* button to return to the Switching page.

# 5.24 LOG DISPLAY

Open the **Logs** panel by clicking the *Logs* tab at the lower left-hand edge of the Switching page display. In normal operation, this panel is a fly-out window and will return to hidden when the cursor is moved out of the window. If desired, you may choose to keep the panel open by clicking the push-pin symbol in the header bar.

Log						
Time	Message	Type	Severity	User	 Authors	icaled User
	π.	AB	AL	All	 40	•
10/10/2013 2:00:00 PM	System Controller (LAB Rat) came online	Device	Event			
10/10/2013 1.05.35 PM	Dwitch status received for destination (WFW 2). HD (PUMA)-+(QuadView)	Device	Event			
10/10/2013 1:05 30 PM	Switch status received for destination (WFM 2); HD (Quadritew)→(PUMA); CH 1 (79 1)→(PUMA); CH 2 (75 1)→ (PUMA); CH 3 (75 1)→(PUMA); CH 4 (75 1)→(PUMA); TX 1 (75 1)→(PUMA); TX 2 (75 1)→(PUMA); TX 3 (75 1)→ (PUMA); TX 4 (75 1)→(PUMA)	Device	Event			
10/10/2013 1:05 18 PM	Twitch status received for destination (WFW 1), CH 1 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; CH 2 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; CH 3 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; CH 4 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; TX 1 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; TX 2 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; TX 3 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; TX 4 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; TX 3 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; TX 4 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; TX 4 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; TX 3 (TS 1)—rPhabrid; TX 4 (TS 1)—rPhabr	Device	Event			
10/10/2013 1:04:54 PM	Switch status received for destination (Mon 2): HD (PC 1)->(GuadView)	Device	Exent			
10/10/2013 1:04:49 PM	Switch status received for destination (Mon 2) HD (Quadview)-+(PC 1)	Device	Event			
todomnes tine en plu	Studieth effective received She dealine from Heart 91 LPI 2011 91 - 9700 91	Doutre	Durnt			

Log panel displays a log of all switches made for the currently active workspace by all users of that workspace. It provides the user an instant notification of changes in the active workspace, including changes in device online/offline status, changes in lock status etc. The Logs panel display defaults to auto-hide mode.



# **Chapter 6 Event Scheduling Option**

# 6.1 INTRODUCTION

Event Scheduling is an optionally available feature for Cattrax Web that adds automated source to destination switching control to a PESA routing system installation by allowing you to create schedule items (switching events) to automatically occur on a date and clock time basis.

Use event scheduling to switch program sources such as promotional presentations, movies or other program material to router output destinations for delivery to distribution channels, recording devices, etc.

Once schedule items are configured, Cattrax Web does not have to be open in a browser for the scheduled switching functions to occur. Each scheduled switching event may be performed as a non-breakaway switch or salvo and can be scheduled to occur once, repeat daily or repeat on specified days only.

The event log keeps a record of all scheduled switching events as they are processed by Cattrax Web.

## 6.2 OVERVIEW

Every automated switch command sent to the router by the Cattrax Web event scheduling feature is called an *event*, and every event that you want to occur must be configured by creating a *schedule item* for that event. When a schedule item is created, the following information about the event (switch occurrence) is defined:

A name and description is given to the event,

the date and time you want the event to occur and, if the event repeats, the time period (range of dates) over which you want the multiple occurrences of the event to take place,

the type of switch and the router resource parameters you want to switch when the event is "fired".

Once a schedule item is created, the event it defines is added to the master schedule of pending events, called the *Event Stack*, refer to paragraph 6.3. If the schedule item is repeating, all events it defines will be added to the event stack page.

Schedule items are also listed on the *Schedule Editing* Page, where individual schedule items may be reviewed, edited or deleted as required. New schedule items are created through the schedule editing page as well. Refer to paragraph 6.4.

User interface for event scheduling is through dedicated operator pages of Cattrax Web, accessed from the Switching page for the active workspace the user is logged in to. Schedule items created through a particular workspace are specific to that workspace, meaning that router access is controlled by limiting the system resources available for creating switching events (schedule items) to the resources for which the workspace is granted control.

Before we look at the event scheduling interface pages or how to create a schedule item, let's look at an example of a typical event.

Suppose we want a switch to occur on the router which would feed the output signal from a specific video player over a community distribution TV channel at 4 PM on a specific date. Let's assume that the video signal enters the router as source *Player 2* and the distribution equipment for the TV channel derives its input source from router output *TX 2*. We could create a schedule item for the event and name it *Evening Announcements*, for example. We would enter the Start Date and Time (4 PM on the desired date) for the



event (router switch) to occur, and then select Player 2 as the source for destination TX 2 as the router resource parameters for the event. Once the schedule item is created, Cattrax Web adds the event it defines to the event stack of pending scheduled events.

If we want to switch the signal from this video player to this distribution channel every evening at 4 PM instead of just once, we can configure the schedule item to repeat. Cattrax Web allows you to define a date and time you want the event to first occur (Start Date/Time) and a date and time you want to be the last occurrence of the event (End Date/Time).

User interface pages for event scheduling are discussed in the following paragraphs.

# 6.3 EVENT STACK PAGE

Open the Event Stack page by clicking *Event Stack* in the *Page* menu drop-down list, as shown at right.

The event stack page displays a real-time listing of scheduled events in chronological sequence. If a schedule item defines a repeating event, there may be multiple entries of the event shown in the event stack.

PageViewEditSwitchingSalvo EditingSalvo EditingEvent StackSchedule EditingSchedule Editing

Cattrax Web also allows you to issue a master pause command from

the event stack page that halts all event processing until the pause command is manually removed. Refer to paragraph 6.3.2.

# 6.3.1 EVENT STACK DISPLAY MATRIX

Each event in the stack is shown on an individual row, with the last five processed events and the next event in queue to be processed displayed on color highlighted rows at the top of the page.

A "processed" event is a schedule item whose defined start date and time has passed, and for which a switch command should have been sent by Cattrax Web to the router, unless the event was on "hold" at the time it was processed.

If an event is on "hold" or for some other reason is unable to be "fired" at its scheduled time, Cattrax Web will continue to try to process that event for one minute. If the repeated attempts are not successful, the event is marked as "failed".

The five most recent events are shown highlighted in green if the event was successfully processed and highlighted in red if event processing failed and a switch command was not sent to the router.

The next event to be processed is highlighted in yellow. The Status column indicates the action taken by Cattrax Web at the time the event was processed.

An example Event Stack page is shown by Figure 6-1. Each column of the display matrix is introduced below:

- **Order** The left-most column of the page displays the sequence number for each event. Sequence numbers for processed events are shown with a plus (+) sign preceding the number, with plus one (+1) being the most recently processed event. Pending, or unprocessed, events are shown with a minus (-) sign preceding the number. Sequence numbers for pending events indicate the "firing" order for scheduled events.
- **CountDown** The CountDown column displays in the format of <days, hours, minutes, seconds> the amount of time that has lapsed since a processed event was processed (count-up time), or the amount of time until a pending event is due to be processed (countdown time). Count-up time for a processed event is shown with a plus sign (+) preceding the time display; count-down time for a pending event is shown with a minus sign (-) preceding the time display.



	cattrax		\$	PESA
--	---------	--	----	------

admits | Switching + | Logout

WORK	SPACE Worksp2	•	Subsys2	VIRTUAL CONTROLLER: VH	Cin_3	the .	CONTROLLER	PERC 3000 192 168 3 16	5) 🤱 (1)	2/28/201	8 TE 42.45 PM
Cetter	CountDown	Date/Time	Status	Name	A lease	50012		Dest		5890	Repea
5	+1025930	2127/2018 12 43 00 PM	X	Drafy Specials from onboard shops	-	AUCH		WV 1-1			Dally
4	+8.2310.50	2127/2010 64 32.00 PM	1	Movie 2					*	SALV01	
з	+8:23:06:50	2127/2018 04 36:00 PM	1	Pre Dinner Announcements		in 190		RTR 634			
2	+0.0012:50	2129/2019 03 30 00 PM	1	Evening Announcements					-	SALV02	Daily
a	+0:00:02:00	2120/2018 03 40:00 PM	1	Evening Movie 1	-)	EVS 178		MON 172			
1	-0.04 17:10	2128/2014 00:00:00 PM	-	Evening Movie 2	->	in tB		MON 207			
2	-1.14.17.10	3/01/2018 08:00:00 AM	88	Daily Events					#	SALV02	Daily
9/)	-1:23:47:10	3/01/2018 03 30:00 PM	-11	Evening Announcements					-	SALV02	Daily
4	-2:14:17:10	3/02/2018 8/00 00 AM		Dially Events						SALV02	Daily
5	-2:23.47.10	3/02/2018 03 30:00 PM		Evening Announcements					#	SALV02	Daily
0	-2:14:17:10	3/53/2018 86:00:00 AM	-	Daily Events					#	SALV02	Daily
,	-9234730	3/03/2018 03 30.00 PM	-	Evening Announcements					#	SALV02	Daily

Cattrax Web Version 2.0.0

© FESA Switching Systems, 2012-2018

Figure 6-1 Example Event Stack Page

- **Date/Time** The Date/Time column displays the scheduled date and time at which the listed events will occur.
- **Status** Symbols used in the Status column indicate real-time status of each event shown on the page from the following options:

**Green Check Mark** – Indicates the processed event was "fired" (switch command was sent by Cattrax Web to the router) at the date and time scheduled.

**Orange "X"** – Indicates the processed event DID NOT fire because the event was on "hold" at the time the event was scheduled to occur.

**Red "X"** – Indicates the event was not on "hold" at the time it was scheduled to occur, but for some unknown reason the switch command did not get sent to the router. This could occur if, for example, the Cattrax Web server was not running at the time the event was scheduled.

A common, universal "pause" symbol (two parallel, vertical bars) is used to show the "hold" status of each pending scheduled event shown on the page.

Hold Symbol - bars shown in green – Indicates the event is not currently on hold.

**Hold Symbol** - bars shown in red – Indicates the event is currently on hold, and will not fire at its scheduled time.

Hold status may be applied to an individual event shown on the event stack page by clicking the hold symbol on the row of that event entry. Only the selected event will be held. All other event stack entries for the schedule item will remain active.

You may remove the hold status from any event by clicking the red hold symbol for the event stack entry. The hold symbol will return to green and the event will fire at its scheduled time.



- Name Displays the name assigned to the event when the schedule item was created.
- **Source/Dest/Salvo** These columns identify the system resources for the switch command that will be issued by Cattrax Web to the router when the event is processed.

If the event schedule is a defined source/destination switch, the source name and destination name along with their identification icons, if used, will be shown in their respective columns.

If the event defines a salvo, the salvo name and its identification icon, if used, will be shown in the Salvo column.

• **Repeat** – If the schedule item defines a repetition schedule for the event, the repeat frequency (Daily, for example) will be shown in this column.

## 6.3.2 MASTER EVENT SCHEDULING PAUSE

You may manually issue a master pause command for the event scheduling function from the event stack page. When event scheduling is paused, no events will be processed.

Manually pause event scheduling as follows:

- 1. Click the *Options* button on the menu bar to open the list box as shown at right.
  - workspa Pause
- 2. Click the *Pause* command from the list.
- 3. When the system is in pause mode, a red warning box is displayed at the top of the page as shown below.

CONTROLLER: PERC 3000 192.168.3.166}	8 (1)	PAUSED	
Dest	Salvo	Rep	

4. To remove the pause command, open the *Options* box and click the *Pause* command entry. Repeatedly clicking the *Pause* command entry toggles the system pause function.

# 6.4 SCHEDULE EDITING PAGE

Open the Schedule Editing page by clicking *Schedule Editing* in the *Page* menu drop-down list, as shown at right. An example schedule editing page is shown by Figure 6-2.

The schedule editing page allows an operator to review, edit, pause or delete event schedule items. Event schedule items are shown on individual rows. You may sort the page contents by entering search text in the box beneath the column header name of the column you wish to search.

Page	View	Edit				
Swite	ching	Ì				
Salvo	Salvo Editing					
Even	t Stack					
Sche	dule Editing	, ]				

The configuration page for creating new schedule items is also accessed from this page.

Regardless of whether an event is a one-time occurrence or repeated, when a schedule item is created, an entry for the event is displayed on the schedule editing page. All schedule items remain listed on the schedule editing page until manually deleted by an operator, even if an item has passed its end date and time.



Outdated schedule items will no longer be placed in the pending event queue (event stack), but will remain on the schedule editing page so that you may easily restore the event to active status, if needed, without having to recreate the schedule item. You may edit the outdated event to change the end date or time to some time in the future and reinstate the event as a pending item in the event stack.

To edit the schedule item for any of the listed events, locate the schedule item you wish to edit and click the yellow pencil icon at the right edge of the row to open the schedule item configuration box for the event. Make any changes needed to the schedule item entries and click the *Insert* button at the bottom of the box. Refer to paragraph 6.5 for more information on the schedule item configuration box.

WORKSPACE (Market)	. Subaro	VIRTUM CONTR	OU ER VAICIÓ 3 NE	CONTROLL	ER PERCIN	N 197 169 3 1651 0 (1)	2020010 0242 40	ina i
Marine Park Mikhopz	Decostos	Smith	Dest	Safer	Federal	2144 (114 (114 (114 ))	End	1100
		1			•	00 00		Ö
Breakfast Announcements	Daily Announcements	in 18	MON 207		Dolly	11/27/2017 7:05:00 AM	12/22/2017 7:05:00 AM	07
Shop Divity Specials	Daily Specials from onboard shope		MON 177		Only	11/27/2017 8 01 80 AM	12/4/2017 8:05:00 AM	17
Lunch Announcements	Lunch serving locations	in 121	LB3 SP 7		Only	11/27/2017 11:05:00 AM	12402017 11 05:00 AM	02
Pre Dinner Announcemente		m 190	ATR 894		Daily	11/27/2017 4 05:00 PM	12/4/2017 4:05:00 PM	10
Dinner Announcements	Announce dinner time enfectionment			SALVO1	Diely	11/27/2017 5:05:00 PM	12402017 5-05-00 PM	07
Evening Announcements		E0.4	0./7.6		Dally	11/27/2017 6 05 00 PM	12402017 6 85 00 PM	07
Excursion Preview 2	Promo for Excursion Packages for Port 2	EvM 82	CLRC 63			12/2/2017 8:00:00 AM	12/2/2017 8:00:00 AM	03
Balvo 1				BALVO1	Dally	12/14/2017 2:50:30 PM	12/21/2017 2.50:30 PM	100
Excursion Preview 1	Promo for Excursion Packages for Port 1	San Test 1	EV5.142		Daly	12/16/2017 8:00:00 AM	12/16/2017 8:00:00 AM	17
Disembarking Instructions		AUX1	M/1-1		Daly	12/23/2017 6:00:00 AM	12/23/2017 6:00:00 AM	03
18 6 1 2 8 M P	ige slav 10 🔹						12 items in 2	pages

Each column of the schedule editing page is introduced below:

Figure 6-2 Example Schedule Editing Page

- **Name** Displays the Name assigned to the event schedule when the event was created. Entering text in the filter box just below the Name header will alphanumerically sort the contents of the column.
- **Description** Displays the Description text entered for the event schedule when the event was created.
- **Source/Dest/Salvo** These columns identify the defined system resources for the switch command that will be issued by Cattrax Web to the router when the event is processed.

If the event schedule is a defined source/destination switch, the source name and destination name along with their identification icons, if used, will be shown in their respective columns.

If the event defines a salvo, the salvo name and its identification icon, if used, will be shown in the Salvo column.

You may sort the contents of any of the columns by entering alphanumeric search text in the filter box just below the column header of the column you wish to sort.



- **Repeat** If the schedule item applies a repetition schedule to the event, the repetition frequency (Daily, for example) will be shown in this column. The pull-down arrow in the box just beneath the Repeat column header opens a list of search terms by which you may sort the column contents.
- Start Displays the date and time for the first occurrence of the scheduled event.

You may sort the display matrix by the contents of this column by selecting a date and time, or a range of dates/times, by which you wish to search. To enter a range, enter the beginning search date and time in the filter box on the left, and the ending search date and time in the filter box on the right. Click the calendar icon to the right of the filter box to select a date, or click the clock icon to select a time. The selected search parameter will be inserted in the filter box.

• End – Displays the date and time for the last occurrence of a repeating scheduled event.

You may sort the display matrix by the contents of this column by selecting a date and time, or a range of dates/times, by which you wish to search. To enter a range, enter the beginning search date and time in the filter box on the left, and the ending search date and time in the filter box on the right. Click the calendar icon to the right of the filter box to select a date, or click the clock icon to select a time. The selected search parameter will be inserted in the filter box.

- **Pencil Symbol** Clicking the pencil symbol on any row opens the event schedule editing box for the selected event. You may make any changes desired to the event schedule through the editing box.
- **Red X Symbol** Clicking the red X symbol on any row deletes the event schedule. You will be prompted to verify the action before the event schedule is deleted.
- **Create Schedule Item** Clicking the *Create Schedule Item* button at the bottom of the page opens the event schedule creation box where you can configure new event schedule items. Refer to paragraph 6.5.

# 6.5 CREATING SCHEDULE ITEMS

In order to use Cattrax Web event scheduling, a schedule item must be created for each event which defines:

- The source to destination switch(es) to occur when the event is "fired",
- the date/time at which the event is to occur,
- whether or not the event is to repeat and the range of dates over which you wish a repeating event to occur.

The event schedule may specify an individual destination and source or a named salvo may be specified for the switching function.

Remember that once a router switch is initiated by Cattrax Web event scheduling, the router source(s) and destination(s) switched by the event remain connected until another switch command from any router control device changes the matrix status. The End Date/Time specified for a repeating schedule item defines the period of time over which the events added by the schedule item will appear as pending events in the event stack. This parameter does not cause any change to occur on the router switching matrix.

For easy entry when creating schedule items for common or often used events, PESA recommends that you create a local salvo for such events. Assign the salvo a name that easily identifies the event.

Schedule items can only be created using system resources available to the workspace in which the schedule editing page is open.

To create a Schedule Item, click the *Create Schedule Item* button at the bottom of the schedule editing page to open a blank event schedule creation box.



An example Schedule Item Creation Box is shown by Figure 6-3. Each field of the box is introduced in the following paragraphs.

Name:	Evening Annou	Evening Announcements				
Description:	Daily Announce	ments of Upcoming E	ivents			
Repeat:	Monday 🔲	Tuesday 🕅 Wednesd	lay 🔄 Thursday 🔲 Friday	🔲 Saturday 📄 Sunday	Everyday	
Start Date / 1	Time: 1/18/2018 4:00	PM 🔳 🖸				
End Date / T	ime: 1/25/2018 4:00	PM 🔳 🖸				
Source Sele	ction?					
Switch		Salvo				
Source:	Player 2	▼ Salvo:	*			
Destination:	TX 2	•				
Insert	<u>Cancel</u>					

#### Figure 6-3 Example Schedule Item Creation Box

- Name Enter a Name you wish to assign to the event schedule you are creating.
- **Description** Enter a text Description you wish to associate to the event schedule you are creating. PESA recommends that you use a name that is descriptive of the function or content of the event.
- **Repeat** Allows you to apply repeat options to the event schedule. From this listing, you may select specific days of the week on which you would like the event to repeat. Check the box beside the day or days you wish to select, or you may choose Everyday to place a check in all daily selection boxes.
- Start Date/Time Allows you to enter the desired date and time for the first occurrence of the scheduled event.
- End Date/Time Allows you to enter the desired date and time for the last occurrence of the a repeated schedule event.
- **Source Selection** There are two radio buttons beneath the Source Selection header that allow you to select the type of switch defined by the event from the following options:

 $\underline{Switch}$  – Selecting the *Switch* button defines the event switch as a non-breakaway source to destination switch. Use the pull-down lists beneath the radio button to select the source and destination for the event switch.

<u>Salvo</u> - Selecting the *Salvo* button defines the event switch as a salvo switch. Use the pull-down list beneath the radio button to select the pre-configured salvo for the event switch.

Sources, destinations and salvos shown in the pull-down lists are the system resources available to the workspace currently selected on the switching page.

- **Insert** Activates the schedule item. Events defined by the schedule item will be added to the Event Stack page and the schedule item will be added to the Schedule Editing page.
- **Cancel** Cancels the operation and closes the schedule item creation box.



# **Chapter 7 In the Event of Difficulty**

# 7.1 PESA CUSTOMER SERVICE

If you have questions about, or are experiencing any difficulty with, your Cattrax Web system control application, contact PESA's Customer Service Department. Technicians are available to assist you 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

